AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

INVESTIGATING THE MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF ANGIOTENSIN II-INDUCED LEPTIN SYNTHESIS IN VASCULAR SMOOTH MUSCLE CELLS

by

ZEINA MHD HAZEM AZRAK

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Pharmacology And Toxicology of the Faculty of Medicine at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon September 2015

INVESTIGATING THE MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF ANGIOTENSIN II-INDUCED LEPTIN SYNTHESIS IN VASCULAR SMOOTH MUSCLE CELLS

By

ZEINA MHD HAZEM AZRAK

Approved by:

Dr. Ramzi Sabra, Professor Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

ATA Zen

Dr. Asad Zeidan, Assistant Professor, Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology and Physiological Sciences

IMREN ??

Dr. Joseph Simaan, Professor Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

Dr. Ali Eid, Assistant Professor Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

Member of Committee

Member of Committee

Date of thesis defense: September 15, 2015

Advisor

Co-Advisor

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

THESIS, DISSERTATION, PROJECT RELEASE FORM

Student Name:			
First	Middle	Last	
O Master's Thesis Dissertation	O Master's Project		O Doctoral

I authorize the American University of Beirut to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis, dissertation, or project; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

I authorize the American University of Beirut, **three years after the date of submitting my thesis, dissertation, or project,** to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of it; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

Signature

Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to first and foremost thank God for giving me the strength, guidance, wisdom and physical ability to work on my thesis project.

I express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Asad Zeidan. Thank you for your generous support throughout my research. With your ceaseless help, motivation and guidance I have become a better scientist.

Dr. Ramzi Sabra, I always found your delivery of instruction and confidence very intriguing. Thank you for your valuable comments and advices, and thanks for the positive influence you had on my educational outlook.

Thank you Dr. Joseph Simaan, Dr. Ali Eid, and Dr. Fouad Zouein for the time you devoted to read my thesis and for providing me with your appreciated feedback and input.

My father, you always believed in me and encouraged me to pursue my goals. I am what I am today because of you. I love you very much and I hope to always make you proud.

My mother, and my sisters Maria, Alia and Rania, you are my source of strength and happiness. Thank you for your unconditional love, care and motivation. I love you very much.

Thank you my lab colleagues Sarah, Hawraa and Crystal for the positive energy you provided me with, and for teaching me the different research techniques, and aiding me in the analysis of my data.

Thank you Mustafa Al Hariri for your sincere help.

Farah, Johny and Cassandra, you have been my source of joy and inspiration through the late hours at the lab and throughout this entire journey. I cherish every memory and the laughs we shared. I never want to lose touch with you.

Liana and Rola, you have given me unforgettable memories. Thanks for being there for me. I truly value the friendship we have.

My partners in crime, Zeinab and Haya, thank you for being there for me even if we were miles apart. You mean so much to me.

AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Zeina Mhd Hazem Azrak for

<u>Master of Science</u> <u>Major:</u> Pharmacology and Therapeutics

Title: Investigating the molecular mechanisms of Angiotensin II-induced leptin synthesis in vascular smooth muscle cells.

<u>Background and aims</u>: There is considerable evidence supporting the role of Ang II and the obesity-associated adipokine leptin, in the pathogenesis of vascular hypertrophy and remodeling. Both proteins appear to mediate the hypertrophic effect of one another, possibly through a crosstalk or feedback mechanism. The correlation between Ang II and leptin has been scarcely investigated. In this study, we aimed to investigate whether Ang II induced leptin synthesis in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), to define the molecular mechanisms and pathways underlying this process; and to explore the particular molecular mechanisms that mediate the Ang II-induced hypertrophy and link them to leptin synthesis. Finally, we explored the role of the anti-atherosclerotic adipokine, adiponectin, in inhibiting the Ang II-induced vascular remodeling and hypertrophy.

<u>Methods:</u> A VSMC cell culture and RPV (Rat Portal Vein) organ culture was performed in the absence/presence of Ang II; some studies involved the pretreatment of VSMCs and RPVs (before adding Ang II) with an inhibitor or with adiponectin. Western blot analysis was performed to detect Ang II-induced leptin, p-cofilin, p-p38, p-Akt and p-ERK1/2 expression. The effect of Ang II on ROS (Reactive Oxygen Species) formation and the G/F actin (Globular/Filamentous actin) ratio was detected by immunohistochemical analysis (via laser confocal microscopy) on VSMCs of the rat aorta. The actin depolymerization agent cytochalasin D (CD) and the RhoA/ROCK pathway inhibitor y-27632, the NOX inhibitor apocynin and the EGFR (Epidermal Growth Factor receptor) inhibitor AG-1478, were used to investigate the involvement of the intact actin cytoskeleton, the RhoA/ROCK pathway, NOX and EGFR activation respectively. Immunocytochemical analysis (via laser confocal microscopy) was done to study both, the effect of Ang II on leptin synthesis and the GATA-4 nuclear translocation in the VSMCs. The mRNA expressions of AdipoR1, AdipoR2 and adiponectin were deduced by qPCR analysis.

<u>Results:</u> We were able to show that Ang II induces leptin synthesis in the VSMCs. Moreover, we showed that NADPH oxidase (NOX) activation, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) activation, and the RhoA/ROCK pathway are involved in the Ang IIinduced leptin synthesis, where Y-27632 (RhoA/ROCK pathway inhibitor), AG-1478 (EGFR inhibitor) and Apocynin (NOX inhibitor), attenuated the Ang II-induced leptin synthesis. Furthermore, we identified p-Cofilin as the downstream effector of EGFR and the RhoA/ROCK pathway, while p-Akt and p-p38 were verified as the downstream effectors of the RhoA/ROCK pathway only.

In addition, we provided preliminary results on the role of the actin dynamics in Ang IIinduced hypertrophy: Ang II reduced the G/F actin ratio, and the RhoA/ROCK pathway appeared to mediate this response. In addition, we provided preliminary results suggesting that Ang II induced GATA-4 nuclear translocation. Our results demonstrated that exogenous adiponectin exhibited a protective role against the ERK1/2-dependent Ang II-induced hypertrophy. We finally showed that Ang II increased the mRNA expression of the adiponectin receptors (AdipoR1 and AdipoR2) and adiponectin.

<u>Conclusion:</u> On the basis of the obtained results, we showed, for the first time, that Ang II induced leptin synthesis in VSMCs. This enabled us to perceive a potential source of increased leptin observed in different pathological states. We identified different signaling transducers in the pathway underlying Ang II-induced leptin synthesis and Ang II-induced vascular hypertrophy including the RhoA/ROCK pathway, NOX, EGFR, p-cofilin, p-Akt, p-ERK1/2, and G/F actin dynamics. Moreover, we showed that adiponectin inhibits the Ang II-induced ERK1/2 activation. The results advanced our understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying the Ang II-induced vascular hypertrophy either directly or via the induction of leptin synthesis.

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	.V
ABSTRACT	vi
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	ciii
LIST OF TABLES	kiv
LIST OF ABBREVATIONS	V
I. INTRODUCTION	1
1. Hypertension	3
1.1. Types, pathogenesis, complications and antihypertensive therapy1.2. Hypertension research and experimental hypertensive model	3 4
1.2.1. In vivo experimental models.1.2.2. In vitro and Ex vivo experimental models.	4 5
2. The vascular system and hypertension	5
2.1. VSMCs plasticity: <i>Synthetic and contractile phenotypes</i>2.2. Vascular remodeling in hypertension	6 7
2.2.1. Classifications.2.2.2. The role of leptin in vascular remodeling2.2.3. The role of RAAS in vascular remodeling	8 9 11
3. The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS)	12
 3.1. Historical Standpoint. 3.2. The classical RAS model. 3.3. The non-classical/tissue RAS model-<i>With reference to the vascular tissue</i>. 3.4. The ACE2-Ang-(1-7)-Mas receptor 	12 13 14
ax1s	1.5

4.	Ang	giotensin	17
	Pl	hysiological response of Ang II in VSMCs	18
	4.1.	Ang II production: ACE and NON-ACE pathways	18
	4.2	Ang II receptors: types, subtypes and location	19
	12	Ang II madiated vascular actions	20
	4.3.	Ang n-methated vascular actions	20
	4.4.	Ang II-induced signaling transduction	21
		4.4.1 Immediate Ang II signaling events: Mainly, Ang II-induced vasoconstriction	22
		4.4.1.1. Phospholipase C activation	22
		4.4.1.2. Protein Kinase C activation	23
		4.4.1.3. Activation of Src family kinases	23
		4.4.2. Early Ang II signaling events	24
		4.4.2.1 The tyrosine kinases: <i>Focal adhesion kinase, janus family kinases and Rho-kinase</i>	24
		Focal adhesion kinase (FAK)	24
		Janus family kinases	25
		Rho-kinase and the actin cytoskeleton	26
		4.4.2.2. The mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs)	27
		Extracellular Signal Related Kinases: ERK1/2	27
		The c-Jun NH2-terminal kinases (JNKs) and p38MAPK	
		4.4.2.3. The phospholipids- <i>PLA2 and PLD</i>	29
		Dhamhalingga A2 (DI A2)	20
		Phospholipase D (PLD)	
		4.4.3. Late Ang II signaling events	30
		4.4.3.1. Ang II-induced reactive oxygen species (ROS) production	31
		4.4.3.2. Ang II-induced expression of growth factors	32
		Epidermal growth factor receptor pathway (EGFR)	32

4.5. From the physiological to the pathophysiological vascular state: <i>Ang II signa in Hyperternsion</i>	<i>ling</i> 32
4.5.1. Ang II, the vascular wall, and hypertension	33 34
4.5.3. Short-term Ang II signaling in hypertension	34
4.5.3.1. Ang II-induced PLC activation4.5.3.2. Ang II-induced PLD activation	34 35
4.5.4. Long-term Ang II signaling in hypertension	36
4.5.4.1. Ang II-induced ROS formation4.5.4.2. Ang II-induced activation of tyrosine kinases	36 36 37
4.6. What are the mechanisms involved in vascular hyperresponsiveness to Ang- II	38?
5. The role of adipokines in obesity-induced hypertension and vascular remodeling	38
5.1. Leptin in obesity-induced hypertension	39
5.1.1. Leptin receptors.	
5.1.2. Leptin and SNS activation	40
5.1.4. Clinical significance.	42
5.1.5. Pharmacotherapeutic considerations with reference to ACE and ARBs: <i>The link between Ang II and leptin</i>	42
5.2. The protective role of adiponectin in the vasculature	43
5.2.1. Vascular actions of adiponectin	43
II. RATIONALE AND AIMS OF STUDY	46
III. MATERIALS AND METHODS	50
1. Experimental protocol	50
1.1 Ex vivo analysis 1.2 In vitro analysis	50 51
2. Inhibitors used in the experimental studies and the rationale for using them	51
2.1. Apocynin	51

2.2. AG-1478	
2.3. Y-27632	
2.4. Cytochalasin D	
3. Portal vein organ culture	53
4. Protein extraction and quantification	55
5. Western blot analysis - SDS PAGE	56
6. Immunohistochemistry	
6.1. ROS Study	
6.2. G and F actin study	
7. Immunocytochemistry	
7.1. Vascular smooth muscle cell extraction	
7.2. Cell staining and imaging	59
8. RNA isolation, reverse transcription, and real-time polymerase	
chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis of AdipoR1, AdipoR2,	
Adiponectin and 18S rRNA.	60
8.1. RNA isolation and extraction	60
8.2. Reverse Transcriptase PCR	60
8.3. Real-Time PCR	61
9. Statistical analysis and data presentation	62

VI. RESULTS

1.	Ang II-induces leptin synthesis in VSMCs
2.	The RhoA/ROCK pathway and intact actin cytoskeleton are involved in Ang II- induced leptin synthesis in VSMCs
3.	NOX, EGFR activation and the RhoA/ROCK pathway are involved in Ang II-induced leptin synthesis in VSMCs
4.	Ang II induces ROS formation and the RhoA/ROCK and the intact cytoskeleton mediate this process
5.	Ang II reduces G/F actin ratio and the RhoA/ROCK pathway mediates this response
6.	Ang II promotes GATA-4 nuclear translocation, and the RhoA/ROCK pathway and the intact cytoskeleton promote this effect

 Identifying the downstream effectors of EGFR activation and the RhoA/ROCK pathway: Involvement of p-Cofilin, p-p37 and p-Akt 	76
8. Ang II induces ERK1/2 phosphorylation and adiponectin attenuates this effect.	79
9. Ang-II increases AdipoR1, AdipoR2 and Adiponectin mRNA expression	81
V. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	83
BIBLIOGRAPHY	92

ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure Pag	;e
1. Summary of molecular signaling responses to leptin and adiponectin and their vascular effect	
2. Rationale of study	,
3. A summary of the specific aims of the study)
4. RPV organ culture	1
5. Ang II-induced leptin synthesis in VSMCs	5
6. The RhoA/ROCK pathway and intact actin cytoskeleton are involved in Ang II-induced leptin synthesis in VSMCs	7
7. NOX, EGFR activation and the RhoA/ROCK pathway are involved in Ang II-induced leptin synthesis in VSMCs)
8. Ang II induces ROS formation and the RhoA/ROCK and the intact cytoskeleton mediate this process	1
9. Ang II reduces G/F actin ratio and the RhoA/ROCK pathway mediates this response	3
10. Ang II promotes GATA-4 nuclear translocation7	5
11. Identifying the downstream effectors of EGFR activation and the RhoA/ROCK pathway: Involvement of p-Cofilin, p-p38 and p-Akt7	8'
12. Adiponectin inhibits the Ang II-induced ERK1/2 activation	0
13. Ang-II increases AdipoR1, AdipoR2 and Adiponectin mRNA expression	2
14. Conclusion	1

TABLES

Та	ble	Page
1.	Primary antibodies used in Western blot	56
2.	Primers used in PCR	61

ABBREVIATIONS

ACE	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme
Ang II	Angiotensin II
ARB	Angiotensin Receptor Blocker
AT1R	Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor
AT2R	Angiotensin Type 2 Receptor
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
DAG	Diacylglycerol
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
ERK1/2	Extracellular Related Kinase
FAK	Focal Adhesion Kinase
GPCR	G-Protein Coupled Receptor
IP3	Inositol triphosphate
JAK	Janus Kinase
МАРК	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
MEK	MAPK/ERK kinase
NOX	NADPH oxidase
РКС	Protein Kinase C
PLA2	Phospholipase A2
PLC	Phospholipase C
PLD	Phospholipase D
RAAS	Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System
RASMC	Rat Aortic Smooth Muscle Cells
RSNA	Renal Sympathetic Nerve Activity
RyR	Ryanodine Receptor
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
ROCK	Rho Associated Protein Kinase
RPV	Rat Portal Vein
SHR	Spontaneous Hypertensive Rats
SNS	Sympathetic Nervous System
VSMC	Vascular Smoot Muscle Cell

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

According to the latest annual report of the World Health Organization (WHO), nearly 17.5 million people die from CVD every year, making it the leading cause of mortality worldwide (World Health Organization, 2011).

Hypertension is a highly prevalent risk factor for CVDs, and it is becoming an increasingly common health problem worldwide due to increasing longevity and a high incidence of hypertension-inducing risk factors (Singh et al., 2000; Yusuf, Reddy, Ounpuu, & Anand, 2001). Most importantly, hypertension induces vascular hypertrophy and remodeling through many possible mechanisms that are still not fully identified. It has been well established that vascular remodeling is an important determinant in vascular pathologies (Pasterkamp, de Kleijn, & Borst, 2000; Ward, Pasterkamp, Yeung, & Borst, 2000).

An exaggerated sympathetic nervous system (SNS) activity and a dysregulated renin-angiotensin-aldosterone-system (RAAS) are the most well understood and key components in the pathogenesis of hypertension. However, a well-defined etiology of most hypertension cases (almost 90%) remains unidentified till this date. Studies reported Ang II (the biologically active component of RAAS) as a significant contributor to the development of hypertension and vascular hypertrophy and remodeling via inflammatory processes, cell growth and matrix deposition (Dzau, 2001). In this regard, Ang II inhibitors at the level of renin, angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) or angiotensin type 1 receptor (AT1R) blockers constitute a major

pharmacotherapeutic approach for hypertension. Of importance, studies revealed that ACE inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) significantly attenuate the vascular hypertrophy present in spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR), suggesting the principal role of Ang II in mediating vascular hypertrophy and remodeling.

In addition to the exaggeration of the SNS and RAAS, obesity or an increase in adipose tissue mass has been identified as a key risk factor of hypertension (Kannel, Brand, Skinner, Dawber, & McNamara, 1967; Mark, Correia, Morgan, Shaffer, & Haynes, 1999). Leptin, also known as the satiety hormone, is an adipokine produced by the adipose tissue, which acts through its receptors to induce various effects including a decreased food intake and increased SNS activity and energy expenditure. Many studies reported a state of hyperleptinemia, which suggests the existence of leptin resistance in obese individuals (Considine et al., 1996; Frederich et al., 1995; Maffei et al., 1995). Studies showed that leptin plays a vital role in mediating the pathophysiology of obesity-related hypertension (Agata et al., 1997) as well as non-obese hypertension (Zeidan et al., 2005).

Zeidan et al. demonstrated that leptin is directly involved in hypertension: leptin production is upregulated in hypertensive rat models compared to normal ones (Zeidan et al., 2005). Increased sympathetic activity, production of inflammatory cytokines, and reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation, are all possible mechanisms that mediate leptin-induced hypertension (Bouloumie, Marumo, Lafontan, & Busse, 1999; Loffreda et al., 1998; Yamagishi et al., 2001).

Moreover, Zeidan et al. also showed that culturing RPVs with leptin induced an increase in angiotensinogen and AT1R. Leptin was also shown to induce a hypertrophic response in the VSMCs of cultured RPVs (Zeidan et al., 2005). Interestingly, the

administration of an angiotensin-ACE inhibitor (Captopril) attenuated the hypertrophic effect of exogenously administered leptin (Zeidan et al., 2005). It can be concluded that Ang II is a key mediator of leptin-induced VSMC hypertrophy.

Hypertension research that stresses on all inquiries from the gene to the intact organism, and focuses on identifying the underlying pathogenesis and biological pathways leading to an elevated blood pressure, cardiovascular hypertrophy and remodeling, and predisposition to target organ damage is therefore an obligation.

1. Hypertension

1.1. Types, pathogenesis, complications and anti-hypertensive therapy:

Hypertension is a hemodynamic disorder, which presents as an elevated arterial blood pressure. In 1733, the English clergyman Stephen Hales made the first published measurement of blood pressure (Hales, 2000). Hypertension is considered a key risk factor for CVDs, and a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. Primary or essential hypertension constitutes 95% of hypertension cases where an elevated blood pressure is due to an unidentifiable cause. Secondary or nonessential hypertension condition such as renal problems, adrenal gland tumors and congenital defects in blood vessels.

Augmented SNS and RAAS activities are the major factors implicated in the pathogenesis of hypertension. The SNS elevates blood pressure through its direct stimulatory effects on the kidney, heart, and peripheral blood vessels resulting in an increase in fluid retention, cardiac output and peripheral vascular resistance (Oparil & Schmieder, 2015). Moreover, an increased SNS activity was shown to induce vascular remodeling and hypertrophy of the left ventricle (Brook & Julius, 2000). Ang II, the active component of RAAS, increases blood pressure mainly through its vasoconstrictor and antinatriuretic properties, in addition to increased sympathetic outflow from the brain (Oparil & Schmieder, 2015). Elevated Ang II levels in hypertension bring about many detrimental cardiovascular effects that will be further discussed later.

Hypertension significantly increases the risk for complications such as coronary artery disease, heart failure, arrhythmias, aneurysms, cardiomyopathy, renal failure and several other complications, which are mainly the consequence of hypertension-induced morphological damage to the heart and vasculature; cardiovascular hypertrophy and remodeling.

The major anti-hypertensive drug classes include: diuretics, calcium channel blockers, ACE inhibitors and ARBs. Stronger insights on the pathogenesis of hypertension will allow for better pharmacological approaches that target the different hypertension-inducing components and co-morbidities associated with hypertension.

1.2. Hypertension research and experimental hypertensive models:

Regardless of successful anti-hypertensive pharmacotherapy, the incidence of this disease is on an upswing. In order to facilitate research on hypertension, experimental models that induce, create or mimic hypertension have been developed.

1.2.1. In vivo experimental models:

Spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) are genetic models of hypertension used

in *in vivo* research (Triantafyllidi, Baldwin, Schwartz, & Gavras, 2004). Other researchers induce hypertension in animal models using agents such as the angiotensin pump, which persistently pumps angiotensin into the animal model (Moreno et al., 2002). Furthermore, partial obstruction of the renal artery is used to create the *In vivo* model of renovascular hypertension (Goldblatt, Lynch, Hanzal, & Summerville, 1934a).

1.2.2. In vitro and Ex vivo experimental models:

In vivo hypertension is mainly induced by blood exerting a high pressure on the blood vessels with or without vasoconstriction. *In vitro* and *ex vivo* research applies this concept through the use of stress chambers in cell culture where cells are mounted on a stretching plate (Kaunas, Nguyen, Usami, & Chien, 2005), and also mechanical stretch of blood vessels or organs. Moreover, since an elevated burden of Ang II is implicated in hypertension (Sim & Qui, 2003), culturing an isolated vessel (such as the RPV) with Ang II creates an *ex vivo* model mimicking the effect of hypertension on vasculature.

2. The vascular system and hypertension:

The vascular wall is histologically divided into 3 tunicas: the inner tunica intima of endothelial cells, the mid tunica media which is the thickest part consisting mainly of VSMCs and the outer tunica adventitia containing fibroblasts and connective tissue. All blood vessels display a certain degree of VSM contraction, which determines the diameter of the vessel defined as the vascular tone. The basal contractile state of VSMCs is interplay of vasodilation and vasoconstriction stimuli from circulating neurotransmitters, hormones and changes in blood pressure. The vascular tone, which is determined by VSMCs, is what mainly regulates the blood pressure and distribution of

blood flow throughout the body. VSMCs regulate blood flow to tissues by controlling the diameter of the resistance vessels, and moreover, they sense alterations in intraluminal blood pressure where they respond by inducing a contraction or dilation of the vasculature to regulate the blood pressure (R. Liu, Leslie, & Martin, 2015).

In the intact vessel, VSMCs are responsible for the regulation of the development, repair and contraction/relaxation of the vascular wall. On the other hand, VSMCs are implicated in CVDs such as hypertension (Bornfeldt, 1996; Mulvany & Aalkjaer, 1990).

2.1. VSMCs plasticity: Synthetic and contractile phenotypes:

SMCs, unlike skeletal and cardiac cells are not terminally differentiated but exhibit remarkable plasticity (R. Liu et al., 2015); they have an innate ability to reversibly switch from a contractile, differentiated state to a synthetic, dedifferentiated state in response to environmental influences including cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, cytokines and growth factors (R. Liu et al., 2015; Rzucidlo, Martin, & Powell, 2007). VSMCs of the contractile phenotype are present in adults' vascular walls and express a high amount of contraction proteins; hence they are used in contraction studies (Wanjare, Kuo, & Gerecht, 2013). They are quiescent, have low rates of migration, proliferation and extracellular matrix (ECM) production (Wanjare et al., 2013). Moreover, the tunica media is cell cycle arrested and expresses a repertoire of contractile and cytoskeletal proteins such as smooth muscle alpha actin, smooth muscle myosin heavy chain, tropomyosin, smoothelin, calponin, desmin, and transgelin, which are all considered as smooth muscle differentiation markers and are upregulated in the differentiated, contractile phenotype (R. Liu et al., 2015; Rzucidlo et al., 2007). Conversely, VSMCs take on the synthetic phenotype in neonates, where they exhibit high rates of ECM production, migration and proliferation, whereas a low level of contractile proteins compared to the contractile phenotype (Wanjare et al., 2013). Also, VSMCs of the synthetic type display a bigger size and hypertrophic appearance compared to the contractile phenotype (Wanjare et al., 2013).

There is clear evidence that the dedifferentiation of VSMCs from the contractile to the synthetic phenotype is critically implicated in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, restenosis following angioplasty, aneurysms and hypertension (Thyberg, 1998; Wanjare et al., 2013).

2.2. Vascular remodeling in hypertension:

Hypertension is characterized by an increase in total peripheral resistance (a reduction in vasculature diameter). Wall tension is directly proportional to pressure x diameter. Wall stress is deduced by dividing wall tension by wall thickness. Hence, wall thickness x wall stress = pressure x diameter, and thus blood vessels respond to an increase in blood pressure by reducing their diameter (increasing resistance) or increasing wall thickness. Hypertension elicits such structural and functional adaptations in resistance arteries and arterioles, which in turn leads to a reduction in the diameter of the lumen. Such adaptive responses modify the vascular function and are grouped under the term vascular remodeling (Price, Less, Van Gieson, & Skalak, 2002). Studies reported vascular remodeling as a key mediator of the co-morbidities and vascular pathologies of hypertension (Pasterkamp et al., 2000; Ward et al., 2000).

2.2.1. Classifications:

Remodeling occurs consistently in arteries rather than veins (van Varik et al., 2012) and early arterial remodeling is associated with significant hemodynamic changes and cardiovascular morbidities and mortalities. According to the type of the vessel and its location, arterial remodeling can appear in different distinguishable types (van Varik et al., 2012). It can be hypertrophic (increased cross sectional area of the wall and increased media to lumen ratio), hypotrophic (decreased wall thickness and decreased media to lumen ratio) or eutrophic (constant cross sectional area of the wall), and either inward (reduction in lumen diameter), outward (increase in lumen diameter) or compensated/normal (no change) (Mulvany, 1999; Mulvany, 2002). With increased age, large arteries undergo outward hypertrophic remodeling and increased stiffness. This process is augmented in hypertension, resulting in a high pulse pressure and detrimental effects in the vascular system (Mitchell et al., 2003; Safar, Girerd, & Laurent, 1996; Safar, Levy, & Struijker-Boudier, 2003).

Inward eutrophic remodeling of small arteries (increased media to lumen ratio but with constant medial cross sectional area) is typically presented in essential hypertension in humans and SHRs, in contrast, inward hypertrophic remodeling is usually found in nonessential hypertension such as hypertension associated with diabetes (Endemann et al., 2004; Rizzoni et al., 2001), renovascular hypertension and pheochromacytoma (Rizzoni et al., 1996). Moreover, inward hypertrophic remodeling occurs in conditions where the endothelin system is activated, such as the salt-sensitive Dahl rats and mineralocorticoid hypertension in rodents (Schiffrin, Lariviere, Li, & Sventek, 1996). Hence, when RAAS is activated (essential hypertension and SHR),

eutrophic vascular remodeling takes place. Whereas the activation of the ET system in salt-related hypertension and secondary hypertension associated with diabetes or a malignancy induces hypertrophic remodeling of the small resistance arteries.

2.2.2. The role of leptin in vascular remodeling :

According to the Centers For Disease Control and Prevention, more than onethird of the US adults are obese. Obesity was shown to be associated with a state of hyperleptinemia or high levels of leptin in the blood (J. H. Lee, Reed, & Price, 2001). Obesity is associated with vascular remodeling mainly characterized by thickening of the media and stiffening of the arteries (Laurent et al., 2001), a response that mainly accounts for the obesity-associated cardiovascular mortality (Laurent, Boutouyrie, & Lacolley, 2005; Redon et al., 2009).

The mechanisms mediating obesity-induced vascular remodeling are still not fully understood, however leptin was identified as a key contributor to this response.

Leptin, also known as the "satiety hormone", is a 16-kDa protein that is secreted from the adipocytes and binds to its receptor located in the hypothalamus (Ob-R) to increase energy expenditure and reduce appetite (Huang & Li, 2000). Since it is produced by the adipose tissue, a higher mass of adipose tissue contributes to high levels of leptin and therefore obesity is associated with hyperleptinemia (Campfield, Smith, & Burn, 1996). Also, hyperleptinemia is primarily due to a state of leptin resistance, which is still not fully elucidated why it occurs in obese subjects. High circulating levels of leptin can bind to their differentially expressed receptors and lead to detrimental effects on the vascular system such as vascular hypertrophy and remodeling. Studies have also shown that high leptin expression in the vascular tissue

induce vascular hypertrophy and remodeling in non-obese hypertensive states as well (Zeidan et al., 2005). On the other hand, studies showed that the hyperleptinemia in normotensive obese states also triggers vascular remodeling (Gil-Ortega et al., 2015; Martinez-Martinez et al., 2014).

Studies revealed that high leptin levels contribute to thickening of the intimamedia of the carotid artery in humans irrespective of coexisting risk factors such as blood pressure, smoking habits and age (Ciccone et al., 2001). Increased proinflammatory cytokine production in macrophages, oxidative stress in endothelial cells (Yamagishi et al., 2001) and increased proliferation and migration rates of VSMCs were mechanisms proposed to mediate this response. In addition, some studies have reported leptin as a fibrotic factor at the renal (Han et al., 2001) cardiac (Madani, De Girolamo, Munoz, Li, & Sweeney, 2006) hepatic (Marra, Navari, Vivoli, Galastri, & Provenzano, 2011) and very recently, vascular level (Martinez-Martinez et al., 2014). It was hypothesized that leptin induces vascular remodeling through stimulating extracellular matrix production in VSMCs via a PI3K/Akt dependent pathway (Martinez-Martinez et al., 2014).

Zeidan et al. revealed that leptin induces vascular hypertrophy in the RPV via ERK1/2 activation (Zeidan et al., 2005). This was associated with increased expression of angiotensinogen, AT1-R, prepro-ET1 and ETA (ET receptor A). Furthermore, inhibition of ERK1/2 or either Ang II or ET1 systems abrogated the hypertrophic response. Thus, it can be concluded that locally synthesized Ang II and ET1 mediate the vascular hypertrophic response of leptin via an ERK-dependent pathway (Zeidan et al., 2005). With respect to the different mechanisms underlying the leptin-induced vascular

remodeling, different signaling cascades are involved such as the RhoA/ROCK pathway and the MAP Kinases (Zeidan et al., 2005; Zeidan et al., 2007a).

2.2.3. The role of RAAS in vascular remodeling:

Endothelial dysfunction, ECM metalloproteinases (MMPs), acute phase reactants and the dysregulation of RAAS are all key pathophysiological mechanisms implicated in vascular remodeling.

RAAS is an essential mediator of vascular remodeling in hypertension (Brown, 2008; Min et al., 2005). Interestingly, a recent study that used an FFHR rat model (SHR with fructose rich diets) revealed that the expression of the Ang II type 1 receptor (AT1R) is increased at the vascular level, whereas that of Ang II type 2 receptor is decreased (Renna, de Las Heras, & Miatello, 2013). The key mediators of vascular inflammation and remodeling in FFHR model are the IGFR subunit associated with NOX and the AT1-R induced intracellular cascades. In response to insulin-dependent stimuli, the IGFR and EGFR pathways are augmented resulting in cellular proliferation and hypertrophy. Moreover, the Ang II-induced oxidative stress pathway stimulates redox-sensitive inflammation and remodeling (Renna et al., 2013). Finally, aldosterone, through the interaction with its mineralocorticoid receptors, was shown to induce VSMC proliferation, vascular remodeling and hypertrophy (Renna et al., 2013). The RAAS and the Ang II-induced hypertrophic response will be discussed in more detail below.

3. The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS):

3.1. Historical Standpoint:

In 1898, Tigerstedt and Bergmann discovered the presence of a heat-sensitive substance found in the crude extracts of the rabbit renal cortex which is capable of sustaining an increase in arterial pressure, they suggested referring to it as "renin"; a humoral pressor substance released from the renal cortex (Piepho & Beal, 2000). This hypothesis was ignored and not appreciated for the possible potential it may hold in managing CVDs and hypertension, until 1934 where Goldblatt et al. demonstrated that clamping the renal artery resulted in renal ischemia and increased blood pressure (Goldblatt, Lynch, Hanzal, & Summerville, 1934b). Shortly then, it was shown that in addition to renin, the ischemic kidney released another heat-sensitive substance with pressor properties as well. Thus it was concluded that renin's pressor activity comes from its indirect action involving the proteolytic cleavage of a substance present in the plasma known today as "angiotensinogen", eventually releasing a peptide having a direct pressor activity which was then isolated from the blood and eventually identified and termed as "Angiotensin I (Ang I)" and "Angiotensin II". In addition, subsequent work showed that Ang I is converted to Ang II via the action of an enzyme residing in the plasma, termed "angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE)" (SKEGGS, KAHN, LENTZ, & SHUMWAY, 1957). Now, and a 100 years later from these key discoveries, the fundamental role of Ang II as the coordinator of the hormonal cascade controlling renal function, extracellular fluid balance, blood pressure and as a key mediator of various pathophysiological processes has become fully understood and appreciated (Ferrario, 2006).

3.2. The classical RAAS model:

The RAAS pathway is initiated by the rate-limiting precursor enzyme, renin. Despite the discovery of renin for over a century ago, it's significant role in blood pressure regulation only became prominent in the last 30 years where pharmacological anti-hypertensive therapy has successfully targeted RAAS (Piepho & Beal, 2000). Renin is synthesized as an inactive preprohormone called prorenin, and its active form renin is formed through the proteolytic cleavage of a peptide segment at the N-terminus of prorenin (Atlas, 2007). Renin is stored in the juxtaglomerular (JG) cells and released by exocytosis (upon activation) into the renal circulation and then into the systemic circulation (Atlas, 2007). Four inter-dependent pathways and stimuli regulate the activation and exocytosis of renin: (1) The afferent pathway: Baroreceptor detection of changes in renal perfusion pressure, (2) The macula densa pathway: Changes in the delivery of NaCl sensed as changes in the concentration of Cl⁻ at the JG apparatus (3) The beta-1 pathway: Sympathetic activation of adrenergic beta-1 receptors in the juxtaglomerular cells (4) Negative feedback of Ang II acting directly on the JG cells (Atlas, 2007; Y. C. Li, 2007).

Renin regulates the first rate-limiting step of RAAS by proteolytic conversion of the serum globulin angiotensinogen to the biologically inert Ang I or Ang-(1-10). The liver primarily produces Angiotensinogen, however it was also detected in various tissues including the cardiovascular, brain, adrenal gland, placenta and adipose tissue (Morgan, Broughton Pipkin, & Kalsheker, 1996). Of importance, it was shown that hepatic and extrahepatic angiotensinogen synthesis increases in response to inflammatory cytokines, sex hormones and Ang II (Morgan et al., 1996).

ACE cleaves the C-terminal dipeptide from inert Ang I to form the primary

active product of the RAAS, Ang II or Ang-(1-8), a potent vasoconstrictor. ACE is a membrane-bound exopeptitdase located on the plasma membrane of vascular endothelial cells and other cell types (Atlas, 2007). The soluble form of ACE present in the plasma is a reflection of the membrane-bound ACE clearance; however it is the membrane-bound form that exhibits physiological importance (Atlas, 2007). ACE also termed as kininase II was shown to metabolize other peptides such as the active vasodilators bradykinin and kallidin to inactive metabolites (Carey & Siragy, 2003). Therefore, the enzymatic activity of ACE results in increased vasoconstriction and reduced vasodilation.

Ang II was found to stimulate the release of aldosterone from the adrenal cortex, and aldosterone is a major determinant of sodium and extracellular fluid balance, where it contributes to an increased sodium and fluid retention and hence increased blood pressure when in excessive amounts (Bollag, 2014).

RAAS is a hormonal cascade that plays an integral role in the management of renal sodium excretion and blood pressure, hence its majorly involved in the homeostatic regulation of blood flow, tissue perfusion, extracellular volume and arterial pressure. An amplification and dysregulation of RAAS contributes to the pathogenesis of different hypertensive disorders including essential hypertension, pheochromacytoma, renovascular hypertension and renin-secreting neoplasms (Corvol, Pinet, Plouin, Bruneval, & Menard, 1994; Laragh, 2001).

3.3. The non-classical/tissue RAS model- With reference to the vascular tissue:

RAS was initially considered as a circulating system. However, many of its components have been identified in tissues hence signifying the presence of a local

tissue RAS as well. The production of all RAS components except for renin was shown in blood vessels. ACE was identified in high amounts in the tunica adventitia, in addition to cultured endothelial and VSMCs (Dzau, 1989; Naftilan, Pratt, & Dzau, 1989). In addition to the vasculature, tissue ACE has been identified in vital organs including the heart, brain, kidney, adrenal glands and the liver (Hollenberg, Fisher, & Price, 1998), and was shown to be readily active in utero (Esther et al., 1997; Schutz, Le Moullec, Corvol, & Gasc, 1996). It was shown that tissue ACE activity particularly peaks during the period of vital organs' development and declines after that (Esther et al., 1997).

Angiotensinogen was also detected in VSMCs, the endothelial layer as well as perivascular adipose tissue (Morgan et al., 1996). Ang II and angiotensin receptors were identified in the vasculature. Tissue angiotensinogen is converted to Ang I by renalderived renin absorbed from the systemic circulation, and eventually tissue ACE converts Ang I to Ang II. Interestingly, in the human forearm, Saris et al. demonstrated that in situ Ang II is more important than circulating Ang II for vasoconstriction (Saris, van Dijk, Kroon, Schalekamp, & Danser, 2000).

3.4. The ACE2-Ang-(1-7)-Mas receptor axis:

The significance of RAS mainly lies in its function not only as a circulating (endocrine) system but also as an independent local tissue (paracrine) and/or cellular (autocrine) (Tipnis et al., 2000)system (Such as the Ang 1-7 pathway) (Carey & Siragy, 2003). Blocking RAAS components (renin, Ang II) is a key anti-hypertensive pharmacological avenue.

ACE-related carboxypeptidase (ACE2) is a functional component of RAS that acts on Ang II to produce Ang 1-7, a heptapeptide having positive effects on the cardiovascular system that counteract those of Ang II (Vickers et al., 2002). ACE2 is located in different tissues but mostly in the heart, kidney and endothelium (Donoghue et al., 2000; Tipnis et al., 2000). Studies reported a significant decrease in ACE2 levels in the kidneys of hypertensive patients (Crackower et al., 2002). Ang 1-7 binds to its Mas receptor to counteract the Ang II-induced responses including vasoconstriction and proliferation in the cardiovascular system (CVS) and the kidney (Esteban et al., 2009; Gallagher, Chappell, Ferrario, & Tallant, 2006). Interestingly, the particular importance of ARBs lies in their ability to increase the concentration of Ang II thereby increases the Ang 1-7 levels where Ang 1-7 can now act as an antagonist in the presence of Ang II. Moreover, ACE inhibitors also increase levels of Ang (1-7), and hence, the vasodilator peptide contributes to the anti-hypertensive effect of ACE inhibitors and ARBs (Chappell, Pirro, Sykes, & Ferrario, 1998; Iyer, Ferrario, & Chappell, 1998).

Recently, clinical approaches to activate the ACE2-Ang-(1-7)-Mas receptor axis such as ACE2 activators and recombinant human ACE2 are being taken. The leading activator of ACE2, XNT, was shown to decrease the blood pressure and reverse the hypertension-induced cardiac and renal fibrosis (Hernandez Prada et al., 2008).

The recent discovery of ACE-related carboxypeptidase (ACE2), angiotensin 1-7 Ang-(1-7)-Mas receptor axis has changed the way in which RAAS is viewed from a purely deleterious system and is now reevaluated for its importance in the pathogenesis of hypertension and anti-hypertensive therapy.

4. Angiotensin

Ang II is the predominate effector of RAAS and a peptide hormone of significant functions including regulation of blood pressure, plasma volume, thirst, and cardiac, renal and neuronal functions. While Ang II is a hormone produced in the circulation, it is now well known that Ang II is formed locally in various tissues such as the brain, kidney, heart, and blood vessels, and hence functions as a paracrine and an autocrine hormone (Wood, Goodfriend, Elliott, & Catt, 1996). Ang II is a key determinant of cardiovascular homeostasis via modifying vascular resistance and blood volume. It exerts its physiological effects upon binding to its receptors located over a wide spectrum of target areas such as the adrenal cortex, kidney, VSMCs, brain, pituitary gland and the SNS.

Despite the physiological importance of Ang II, it was shown to play a vital role in the development of hypertension and cardiovascular hypertrophy. Normally, human physiological plasma angiotensin II levels range from 10-30 pg/ml when measurements are taken at rest. An amplification of RAAS, such as in the case of hypertension, results in increased Ang II levels and Ang II-induced signaling transduction. Increased Ang II levels result in immediate hypertension through AT1-R mediated vasoconstriction and the stimulation of aldosterone release from the adrenal cortex.

It is well established that, in chronic hypertension, high Ang II levels induce vascular remodeling. Interestingly, the primary anti-hypertensive drugs, ACE inhibitors and ARBs significantly decrease the vascular hypertrophy seen in SHRs and the onekidney clip model of hypertension (Schiffrin, 2004). A large number of signaling pathways mediate the Ang II-induced physiological and pathophysiological responses in the vascular system, which will now be discussed in more detail.

-Physiological response of Ang II in VSMCs:

4.1. Ang II production: ACE and NON-ACE pathways:

As previously mentioned, Ang II is produced by the classical/renal RAS or the local/tissue RAS. RAS can be regarded as the predominant pathway of producing Ang II in the circulation but not in tissues. Ang II formation is not exclusively ACEdependent; it can be produced by means of non-ACE pathways such as renal and cardiac chymases that convert Ang I to Ang II in the human heart and kidney(Hollenberg et al., 1998; Urata, Kinoshita, Misono, Bumpus, & Husain, 1990). Studies performed on mice demonstrated that chymases comprise the main source of non-ACE Ang II production, where chymase inhibitors like chymostatin significantly reduced the non-ACE dependent Ang II production (Urata et al., 1990). The presence of a dual pathway provides a reason why in pharmacological therapy, ACE inhibition doesn't result in long-term suppression of Ang II plasma levels (M. Li et al., 2004), and hence this is where the importance of ARBs' (that halt the effect of Ang II at the level of AT1-R) administration comes into effect. An increase in mRNA and protein levels of chymase is implicated in animal models of cardiomyopathy, high blood pressure and myocardial infarction(Doggrell & Wanstall, 2005). With chymases being the most important, proteases including kallikrein, cathespin G and elastase-2 are also part of the non-ACE dependent Ang II production in various human tissues. It was reported that an ACE blockade and co-inhibition of chymase showed and enhanced response (Petrie et al., 2001). It's therefore essential to understand the proteases involved and the underlying mechanisms of non-ACE Ang II formation, where long-term inhibition of local Ang II can potentially prevent cardiovascular remodeling and provide rationales for future therapeutic strategies.

4.2. Ang II receptors: types, subtypes and location:

Ang II exerts its actions through its two primary receptors, AT1R and AT2R (Watanabe, Barker, & Berk, 2005). The angiotensin II type 3 and type 4 receptors (AT3-R AND AT4-R) have also been identified but their pharmacology has not been fully characterized and thus are still not included under the classification of Ang II receptors in mammals according the to the international union of pharmacology nomenclature subcommittee for angiotensin receptors.

AT1-R and AT2-R are members of the membrane bound heterotrimeric G protein-coupled receptor superfamily, coupled to G proteins linked to effector systems that mediate the biological effects of Ang II (Matsubara, 1998). AT1Rs and AT2Rs share only a 30% sequence identity however have a similar affinity for Ang II, (their primary ligand) (Matsubara, 1998).

To date, AT1-R is the best elucidated receptor, and the conventional actions of Ang II such as blood pressure regulation, vasoconstriction, cell proliferation, hypertrophy and activation of the sympathetic nervous system occur via AT1R binding (Touyz & Schiffrin, 2000). Therefore, pharmacological advancements in the treatment of hypertension particularly target the AT1-R. Ang II actions mediated by AT2R binding are poorly understood, however studies displayed contradictory physiological actions to AT1R- mediated effects including vasodilation and inhibition of cellular proliferation and hypertrophy(A. M. Allen, Zhuo, & Mendelsohn, 2000; Siragy, 2000). A very recent interesting study demonstrated that an ARB, valsartan, induced cardioprotection via upregulation of AT2R in isolated ischemia and reperfused rat heart tissues (R. Liu et al., 2015). Moreover, another very recent study defined CD4+ AT2R+

cells as a T cell subpopulation that improves heart performance in post-MI rat models (Skorska et al., 2015). Thus, CD4+ AT2R+ cells can serve as a promising subset for regenerative therapy through myocardial transplantation, pharmacological AT2R activation or a combination of both (Skorska et al., 2015).

In human, AT1Rs and AT2Rs are single genes exhibiting no subtypes. However, the rodent genome contains two genes that encode for two distinct subtypes, AT1a and AT1b (Iwai & Inagami, 1992). AT1Rs are found mainly in the blood vessels, adrenals, kidney, heart, lung and brain (Wynne, Chiao, & Webb, 2009). AT2Rs are unbiquitously expressed in the fetus and then decline shortly after birth (Wynne et al., 2009).

4.3. Ang II-mediated vascular actions:

Ang II acts either directly on its receptors expressed on vascular cells or indirectly through the production of other substances, also, it may act via cross talk with signaling proteins and pathways of other factors.

In the adult vasculature, VSMCs are quiescent and assume the contractile phenotype (Gordon, Reidy, Benditt, & Schwartz, 1990). With time, an increased load on VSMCs triggers their dedifferentiation from the contractile to the synthetic phenotype. This is mainly mediated by the interaction of Ang II with AT1R and AT2R, which are differentially expressed in VSMCs throughout normal development and pathophysiological processes (Bucher, Travo, Laurent, & Stoclet, 1982; Katoh & Periasamy, 1996). VSMCs undergo hypertrophy and/or hyperplasia as an adaptive/reactive response to vascular injury. Such response is implicated in CVDs including hypertension and atherosclerosis where both AT1R and AT2R contribute to

the hypertrophic/hyperplasic response to vascular injury (Zahradka, Wilson, Saward, Yau, & Cheung, 1998).

4.4. Ang II-induced signaling transduction:

Given its diverse array of functions and its strong impact in modifying the cardiovascular physiology, it is of importance to explicitly understand the Ang II receptors (mainly the AT1-R) and Ang II-induced signaling transduction.

Ang II signaling is time-dependent and can be categorized into immediate, early and late signaling. Short-term vascular actions include vasoconstriction and regulation of blood pressure, whereas long-term effects include hypertrophy and hyperplasia of VSMCs (Xi et al., 1999). Upon binding of Ang II to AT1-R, a series of signaling cascades are activated which in turn regulate the different physiological actions of Ang II. Ang II signaling occurs through G protein-dependent mechanisms, as well as crosstalks with signaling proteins including tyrosine kinases such as EGFR, and nonreceptor kinases like focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and Janus kinase (JAK). The pathological responses of Ang II occur through the activation of NOXs and ROS generation (Griendling, Ushio-Fukai, Lassegue, & Alexander, 1997). Immediate signaling events occur within seconds and include the phosphorylation of PLC and Src activation. Activation of phospholipase A2 (PLA2), phospholipase D (PLD), tyrosine kinases and mitogen-activated-protein kinases (MAPKs) occurs within minutes and are considered early signaling processes. ROS generation, proto-oncogene expression, and protein synthesis occur in hours and are considered as late signaling events.
4.4.1. Immediate Ang II signaling events: Mainly, Ang II-induced vasoconstriction:

4.4.1.1. Phospholipase C activation:

Vasoconstriction is an immediate response that takes place within seconds of AT1-R binding and it is the result of a PLC-dependent G protein coupled pathway. In VSMCs, both PLC- β 1 and PLC- γ genes of PLC (a downstream effector of AT1-R), are sequentially activated by AT1-R via G protein and tyrosine kinase pathways (Venema et al., 1998). Upon Ang II binding, AT1-R couples to Gaq/11by and Ga12by activating PLC- β 1, which rapidly (within 15 sec) generates inositol triphosphate (IP3) (Venema et al., 1998). A tyrosine kinase pathway mediates PLC- γ activation and a delayed IP3 formation (Goutsouliak & Rabkin, 1997). PLC activation results in the hydrolysis of membrane bound phosphatidylinositol-4, 5-biphosphate leading to IP3 and diacylglycerol (DAG) generation (Hilgers & Webb, 2005; Woodsome, Polzin, Kitazawa, Eto, & Kitazawa, 2006). Consequently, IP3 generation leads to an increase in free calcium concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]i$) in the cytosol via the ryanodine receptor (RyR). IP3 optimally binds and activates the RyR located on the sarcoplasmic reticulum in VSMCs, opening Ca^{2+} channels causing a rapid rise in $[Ca^{2+}]i$. Interestingly, Ang II mediates an integrated Ca^{2+} signal of a biphasic response : an initial rapid rise and a sustained plateau phase of cytosolic Ca²⁺ (Dostal, Murahashi, & Peach, 1990). IP3mediated mobilization of cytosolic Ca²⁺ from its intracellular stores primarily mediates the initial rapid rise in $[Ca^{2+}]i$. The sustained rise in $[Ca^{2+}]i$ is due to external Ca^{2+} influx through membrane bound receptor-gated and voltage gated Ca²⁺ channels, calcium-induced-calcium-release and activation of the Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger (Hilgers & Webb, 2005; Urena, del Valle-Rodriguez, & Lopez-Barneo, 2007a). Next, the elevated

[Ca²⁺]i targets calmodulin forming a Ca²⁺-calmodulin complex, which then activates myosin-light-chain-kinase (MLCK) triggering an actin-myosin interaction ultimately leading to VSMC contraction (Hilgers & Webb, 2005; Urena, del Valle-Rodriguez, & Lopez-Barneo, 2007b).

4.4.1.2. Protein Kinase C activation:

Ang II-mediated DAG formation activates the translocation of protein kinase C (PKC) from the cytosol to the plasma membrane where the enzyme activates proteins that regulate vascular function (Damron, Nadim, Hong, Darvish, & Murray, 1998; Walsh et al., 1996). Ang II-induced PKC activation phosphorylates signaling proteins including the Src family, extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK-1 and ERK-2), and Rho-kinase (p160ROCK) (Liao, Duff, Daum, Pelech, & Berk, 1996). It also activates signaling pathways such as the MAPK pathway (J. S. Li, Touyz, & Schiffrin, 1998). The activation of these downstream molecules and pathways contribute to Ang II vasoconstriction and VSMC growth (Oriji & Keiser, 1997). PKC induces VSMC contraction by directly phosphorylating MLCK leading to MLC activation. Of importance, it has been shown that PKC activation induces the phosphorylation of CPI-17, a myosin-light-chain-phosphatase inhibitor thereby increasing MLC phosphorylation (Seko et al., 2003).

4.4.1.3. Activation of Src family kinases:

Src family kinases are activated in response to different stimuli and have been shown to essentially take part in signaling pathways that regulate cellular growth. c-

Src, the prototype of the Src- related nonreceptor tyrosine kinases, is abundantly expressed in VSM and undergoes rapid activation (60 sec) by Ang II (Thomas & Brugge, 1997). c-Src appeared to be stimulated in a ROS-dependent manner and it is associated with Ang II activation of ERK 1/2, and other downstream proteins including Ras, FAK, JAK/STAT, pp120, Pyk20, paxillin and caveolin (Erpel & Courtneidge, 1995). Src takes part in Ang II-mediated PLC-*γ* phosphorylation leading to a sustained calcium release (Touyz, Fareh, Thibault, & Schiffrin, 1996).

A study showed that c-Src contributes to focal adhesion complex formation and actin bundling (Ishida, Ishida, Suero, Takahashi, & Berk, 1999). Activation of c-Src is implicated in modifications of cellular architecture and cell growth (Sayeski, Ali, Harp, Marrero, & Bernstein, 1998). Ang II-induced c-Src activation can be a key factor in disrupted VSMC function in hypertension.

4.4.2. Early Ang II signaling events:

AT1-R is linked to intracellular signaling pathways that are involved in the longterm regulation of VSMC function including cellular migration, cellular growth and extracellular matrix formation. These processes are activated by Ang II in a minutely fashion and include the following pathways:

4.4.2.1. The tyrosine kinases: Focal adhesion kinase, janus family kinases and Rhokinase:

• Focal adhesion kinase (FAK):

Cells undergo cytoskeletal structural modifications in response to multiple pathophysiological stimuli to promote cellular migration, apoptosis and survival. Ang II induces the former events through the formation of focal adhesion complexes and the activation of FAK-dependent signaling pathways (Howe, Aplin, Alahari, & Juliano, 1998). Focal adhesion complexes are abundantly expressed in cultured VSMCs and are sites of cellular adhesion and assembly of signal transduction molecules (Okuda, Kawahara, Nakayama, Hoshijima, & Yokoyama, 1995). Ang II rapidly stimulates the phosphorylation of FAK allowing its translocation to areas of focal adhesion with the extracellular matrix and also results in activation of proteins that interact to regulate cell morphology and movement including paxillin, talin, Pyk2, and p130Cas (Eguchi et al., 1999; Leduc & Meloche, 1995; Sabe, Hamaguchi, & Hanafusa, 1997).

• Janus family kinases:

The Janus family kinases include Jak1, Jak2, Jak 3 and Tyk2(Dostal et al., 1997a). Ang II binds to its receptor AT1-R in VSMCs and activates JAK2 within 5 minutes (Dostal et al., 1997a; Marrero et al., 1997). The activated JAK phosphorylates STAT proteins such as STAT1 and STAT2 (5 min), STAT5 (30 to 60 min) and STAT 3 (>60 min)(Marrero et al., 1995). STAT proteins were shown to take part in Ang IImediated cellular proliferation(Marrero et al., 1997). The JAK-STAT pathway mediates early growth by inducing the transcription of early genes such as c-foes and c-my (Ishida et al., 1999; Madamanchi, Li, Patterson, & Runge, 2001), and thus Ang II may contribute to VSMC growth, migration, remodeling and repair via the JAK/STAT pathway (Hefti, Harder, Eppenberger, & Schaub, 1997).

• Rho-kinase and the actin cytoskeleton:

Rho kinases (ROCKs) are the downstream effectors of RhoA(Kaibuchi, Kuroda, & Amano, 1999). RhoA is the active form of Rho; a small ATPase implicated in the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton(Kaibuchi et al., 1999). The activation of ROCK by RhoA induces the activation of LIM kinase-2(Kaibuchi et al., 1999; Lawler, 1999). Now, LIMK-2 phosphorylates and inactivates the actin-binding protein Cofilin, and thereby leads to the inactivation of its actin-depolymerization activity; converting the filamentous F actin to the globular G actin (Kaibuchi et al., 1999; Lawler, 1999). Therefore, this results in a decreased amount of G monomers needed for inhibiting cofactors such as myocardin, subsequently, myocardin can be used by SRF (serum response factor) to induce the expression of expression of different growth factors, ultimately leading to a hypertrophic response (Nelson, Balza, Xiao, & Misra, 2005; Zeidan et al., 2007a).

Moreover, studies that used the ROCK inhibitor, y-27632 revealed the role of the RhoA/ROCK pathway in inducing calcium sensitization and hence VSMC contraction (Uehata et al., 1997). Ang II was shown to activate RhoA in VSMCs and Ang II-induced RhoA/ROCK activation is implicated in the Ang II-mediated vascular hypertrophy (Yamakawa et al., 2000a). Most importantly, it was shown that the antihypertrophic effect of adenosine receptor agonists is attributed to the prevention of RhoA activation and Cofilin-mediated actin polymerization in cardiomyocytes (Zeidan, Gan, Thomas, & Karmazyn, 2014)

4.4.2.2. The mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs):

MAPK pathways are involved in cellular protein synthesis, growth, metabolism, differentiation and vascular contraction (Touyz, El Mabrouk, He, Wu, & Schiffrin, 1999). Ang II was shown to stimulate the three well-identified subfamilies of MAPKs that lead to MAPK activation: ERK1/2, JNK and p38MAPK which in turn trigger VSMC differentiation, transformation, migration and proliferation (Sugden & Clerk, 1997; Taniyama et al., 2004). Stimuli including growth factors, cytokines, GPCR agonists and carcinogens activate the ERKs, whereas JNKs and p38 are stress-activated protein kinases (Robinson & Cobb, 1997).

• Extracellular Signal Related Kinases: *ERK1/2*:

The ERK pathway is the best-characterized subfamily of the MAPKs. Upon binding to AT1R, Ang II activates ERK¹/₂ in 5-15 minutes and the inhibition of PLC in VSMCs inhibits ERK1/2 activation hence suggesting its calcium-dependent activity.

MAPK/ERK (MEK) activates the ERKs, and MEK is in turn activated through a Ras/Raf dependent pathway, which is activated by Shc/Grb2 (a complex formed from the phosphorylation of EGFR by tyrosine kinases Src and Pyk2) (Sugden & Clerk, 1997).

Interestingly, Ang II inhibits ERK activation through the activation of phosphatases when it binds to the AT2R(Cui et al., 2001). It was shown that ERK1/2 is involved in Ang II-induced vasoconstriction, where MAPK/ERK was presented to increase [Ca²⁺]i, and an interesting study indicated that a MEK inhibitor (PD98059) and a tyrosine kinase inhibitor (A-23) decreased Ang II-mediated vasoconstriction

(Touyz, He, Deng, & Schiffrin, 1999a). ERK1/2 were shown to exhibit pro-mitogenic and anti-apoptotic effects and contribute to Ang-II mediated cellular growth and protein synthesis (R. T. Allen, Krueger, Dhume, & Agrawal, 2005). Thus, ERK inhibitors are reaching clinical trials as anticancer agents. Ang II-mediated activation of MAPKs such as ERK1/2 was identified in CVDs such as hypertension and the associated microvascular and macrovascular complications (Ishida et al., 1999).

• The c-Jun NH2-terminal kinases (JNKs) and p38MAPK:

The stress-activated protein kinases JNK and p38MAPK are stimulated by Ang II-activated apoptosis signal regulating kinase (ASK1)(Tobiume et al., 2001). Both JNK and p38MAPK are involved in VSMC growth, apoptosis, inflammatory responses and cell survival. Ang-II induced JNK and p38MAPK induce inflammation and modify VSMC growth by inhibiting growth and promoting apoptosis (Feener, Northrup, Aiello, & King, 1995). JNK activation takes place via PKC activation and a Ca^{2+} dependent pathway. The activation of JNK and p38MAPK is an ASK-1 dependent and ROSinduced Ang II activation, and a study showed that thioredoxin (an ASK1 inhibitor) inhibits apoptosis (Y. Liu & Min, 2002). JNK activation is not dependent on EGFR induction, however the activation of both p38MAPK and ERK1/2 is EGFR-dependent (Eguchi, Dempsey, Frank, Motley, & Inagami, 2001). The activation of JNK by Ang II stimulates the Rho pathway and downstream signaling of Rho is involved in cell migration (Seko et al., 2003). Redox-dependent Activation of P38MAPK will lead to the phosphorylation of a heat shock protein (HSP27) which chaperones and stabilizes partially denatured proteins (Taniyama et al., 2004), and induces the activation of Akt which in turn stimulates a downstream signaling cascade mediating metabolism, protein

synthesis, survival, angiogenesis and vasomotor tone (Shiojima & Walsh, 2002). Studies have reported that p38MAPK activation is a major component of ROSdependent signaling mechanisms in Ang-II induced VSMCs (Ushio-Fukai, Alexander, Akers, & Griendling, 1998).

4.4.2.3. The phospholipids- PLA2 and PLD:

• Phospholipase A2 (PLA2):

PLA2 is a signaling event downstream to Ang II-induced MAPK activation. Ang II activates PLA2 which in turn acts on membrane phospholipids to form arachidonic acid (AA) Lipoxygenase (LOX), cyclooxygenase (COX), and cyp450 enzymes further metabolize AA into various eicosanoids that regulate cellular functions involved in cellular contraction and growth (Bonventre, 1992). COX-mediated AA metabolism forms prostaglandin PGH2 that is, in turn, metabolized by thromboxane synthase, prostacyclin synthase and various enzymes to form thromboxane A2, prostacyclin (PGI2) or PGE2, PGD2 and PGF2a. PGI2 and PGE2 are vasodilators whereas PGH2 and thromboxane act as vasoconstrictors (Bonventre, 1992).

LOX acts on AA to produce leukotrienes that were shown to induce vasoconstriction, increased blood pressure and inflammatory responses (Bonventre, 1992). LOX also produces hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids (HETEs) that are implicated in hypertension and contribute to Ang II-induced vasoconstriction by enhancing Ca+2 influx into the VSMC (Sarkis, Lopez, & Roman, 2004). In contrast, cyp450 oxygenases act on AA to yield epoxyeicosatrienoic acid (EETs) and dihydroxy-epoxyeicosatrienoic acid (DiHETEs), which inhibit calcium-dependent K+ channels resulting in vasodilation and an antihypertensive response (Oyekan, Balazy, & McGiff, 1997).

• Phospholipase D (PLD):

PLD metabolizes phosphatidylcholine to produce phosphatidic acid, which will be catalyzed by phosphohydrolase to produce DAG (Billah, 1993). DAG in turn acts as a source of AA and activates PKC. The downstream signaling of Ang II mediated PLD activation is independent of PKC activation, and involves a tyrosine kinase related pathway leading to an increase in intracellular Ca+2 and Ca+2 influx. Signaling pathways that lead to Ang II-mediated PLD activation include Src and Rho A(Ushio-Fukai et al., 1999). PLD activation yields phosphatidic acid and other metabolites that stimulate NOXs and enhance the vascular formation of ROS which in turn activates tyrosine kinases and Raf that mediate the Ang II-induced cardiovascular responses such as vasoconstriction, VSMC proliferation and cardiac hypertrophy (Billah, 1993). PLD is a major component of Ang II-induced growth, proliferation, remodeling and hypertrophy in the CVS.

4.4.3. Late Ang II signaling events:

It is well established that Ang II has a chronic effect on VSMCs. Long term exposure to elevated levels of Ang II triggers an adaptive response in the cardiovascular system involving an alteration of cell growth, migration and adhesion, eventually leading to cardiovascular remodeling and hypertrophy, in addition to atherosclerotic events.

The signaling events induced by the different kinases (discussed earlier) phosphorylate downstream pathways that are responsible for long-term cellular functions. Mainly, ROS and increased expression of growth factors are the major pathways mediating the long term Ang II induced responses.

4.4.3.1 Ang II-induced reactive oxygen species (ROS) production:

ROS are the product of oxygen metabolism resulting in the generation of superoxide anion (o2-), hydrogen peroxide (h2o2) and water. ROS trigger both normal and abnormal cellular effects. When within the physiological range, ROS plays an important role in signal transduction and the physiological modulation of vascular tone (Alexander, 1995). However, when they are overly produced, they lead to cell growth or proliferation, vascular hypertrophy and remodeling (Alexander, 1995). Ang II is a stimulant of oxidative stress and redox-dependent signaling (Taniyama & Griendling, 2003), and Ang II was shown to induce ROS production through the activation of NOXs in VSMCs. Many Ang II-induced responses are ROS-dependent. For example, Ang II-mediated induction of P38MAPK, Akt/PKB, Src and EGFR are ROS sensitive.

The oxidative stress resulting from ROS activates inflammatory pathways including the nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) pathway to generate different proinflammatory factors, cytokines, chemokines, proteinases and adhesion molecules that all result in functional and structural modifications contributing to accelerated proliferation, hypertrophy and vascular remodeling in hypertension (Intengan, Deng, Li, & Schiffrin, 1999; Kim & Iwao, 2000; Touyz & Schiffrin, 2000). Moreover, Ang IIinduced ROS production results in the inactivation of endothelial derived relaxing factors such as NO, hence leading to endothelial dysfunction (Dasgupta & Zhang, 2011). Of note, Apocynin is a NOX inhibitor that is used to investigate the effect of a certain molecule such as Ang II, on ROS production. It can be concluded that the interaction between Ang II signaling and ROS is key in inducing structural and functional vascular modifications critically implicated in vascular pathophysiology.

4.4.3.2 Ang II-induced expression of growth factors:

• Epidermal growth factor receptor pathway (EGFR):

Ang II-induced EGFR activation is a key signaling event by which Ang II transduces growth-related signaling. Activation of EGFR takes place via Src and ROS dependent mechanisms. Activation of these mechanisms activates disintegrins and metalloproteinase (ADAMs) resulting in the production of a heparin binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF) (Blobel, 2005). HB-EGF induces EGFR activation, and once its activated, EGFR couples Grb2/Shc/Sos complexes and in turn stimulates two major pathways involved in VSMC hypertrophy: the PI3K/PDK1/Akt and Ras/Raf/ERK pathways (McCubrey et al., 2007). Studies reported activation of the EGFR as a key factor in Ang-II induced vascular hypertrophy (Kagiyama et al., 2002).

4.5. From the physiological to the pathophysiological vascular state: Ang II signaling in hypertension:

Angiotensin is a pleiotropic signaling molecule that induces various responses in the cardiovascular system. It activates G-protein dependent signaling mechanisms mediating vasoconstriction, in addition to tyrosine kinases that lead to cellular growth, migration and fibrosis. It is established that Ang II levels are high in hypertension and thus induces its detrimental effects on the vasculature. The significance of Ang II in hypertension has been shown in both preclinical and clinical trials, where the administration of Ang II inhibitors (ACE inhibitors and ARBs) attenuated not only the BP but the associated cardiovascular remodeling as well (Rizzoni et al., 1998). As previously mentioned, increased Ang II levels result in immediate hypertension through its vasoconstrictor effects mediated by the activation of AT-1R on VSMCs, and

antinatriuretic effects through Ang II-induced aldosterone release from the renal cortex. Moreover, in both clinical and preclinical trials, it was reported that amongst the vasoactive agents (such as ET-1), Ang II was the most critical agent in mediating the exaggerated vascular reactivity seen in hypertension(van Geel et al., 2000). Since it exerts its effects on almost all vascular cells including SMCs, endothelial cells and monocytes, Ang II is a key contributor to the vascular changes (functional and structural) seen in hypertension and other CVDs as well.

4.5.1. Ang II, the vascular wall, and hypertension:

In chronic hypertension (sustained elevated levels of Ang II), Ang II binds to its receptor (AT1R) inducing the activation of signaling events that eventually lead to structural and functional changes in the vasculature. Increased peripheral vascular resistance is the main determinant of essential hypertension and it's associated with structural and functional modifications in the vasculature.

Ang II induces structural changes at the cellular level, where it leads to hyperplasia and hypertrophy of the VSMCs resulting in a smaller vessel lumen (Intengan et al., 1999).

Structural changes in the vascular wall bring about an alteration in function, which is responsible for the increased vasoconstriction and enhanced vascular reactivity in vascular disease. Functional alterations include an increased vasoconstriction or impaired vasodilation and this is through increased production of vasoconstrictors, increased permeability, defective electrical properties of the vascular cells and altered signaling mechanisms in VSMCs.

4.5.2. Vascular Angiotensin Receptors:

The altered Ang II signaling in hypertension can either be at the receptor or the postreceptor level. Studies showed that AT1R and AT2R were both elevated in SHR compared to normotensive rats (Otsuka et al., 1998). Moreover, SHR were shown to have a higher receptor density of AT1R in the cardiac tissue, renal medulla and adrenal cortex compared to normotensive rats (Song et al., 1995). Most importantly, the vasculature expressed the same amount of Ang II receptors in both SHR and normotensive rats (Schiffrin, Thome, & Genest, 1984). This finding therefore suggests that the increased Ang II-induced vascular signaling occurs beyond the level of the receptor (AT1R).

In addition, GRK5, a protein involved in desensitization of Ang II receptors is significantly increased in the aortas of Ang II-mediated hypertensive rats compared to normotensive rats (Ishizaka et al., 1997), suggesting that hyperresponsiveness to Ang II in hypertension may be due to receptor (AT1R) desensitization; AT1R internalization and termination of AT1R-induced signaling can lead to a sustained and augmented response.

4.5.3. Short-term Ang II signaling in hypertension:

• Ang II-induced PLC activation:

Studies showed that SHR displayed a higher PLC activity, IP3 and DAG generation, as well as a higher [Ca²⁺]i and intracellular pH when compared to normotensive rats(Baines, Brown, Ng, & Boarder, 1996; Kato, Fukami, Shibasaki, Homma, & Takenawa, 1992). Increased Ca+2 entry and Ca+2 mobilization from IC stores , as well as increased activity of the Na+/H+ exchanger are responsible for the

increased intracellular Ca+2 and pH seen in SHR(Ennis, Alvarez, Camilion de Hurtado, & Cingolani, 1998; Roufogalis, Chen, Kable, Kuo, & Monteith, 1997).

AT1R antagonists (ARBs) and not AT2R antagonists reversed the increase in intracellular Ca+2 and pH to basal levels suggesting that Ang II induces these changes via AT1-R (Ennis et al., 1998). VSMCs in SHR displayed a Ca+2-dependent MAPK activation compared to normotensive rats. Ang II increases intracellular Ca+2 levels hence increases MAPK activation, thereby inducing a hypertensive signaling transduction pathway that ultimately leads to vasoconstriction, VSMC growth and increased vascular responsiveness to various stimuli (Grinstein, Rotin, & Mason, 1989; Lucchesi et al., 1996).

• Ang II-induced PLD activation:

Studies revealed that Ang II-induced PLD activation is augmented in hypertension (Freeman, Chisolm, & Tallant, 1995) and this enhanced activation appears to be dependent on intracellular Ca+2 levels. Increased PLD activation by Ang II leads to increased vasoconstriction via DAG-PKC-dependent mechanisms as well as increased cell growth through phosphatidic acid (Dhalla, Xu, Sheu, Tappia, & Panagia, 1997). Moreover, PLD induces the activation of NOXs resulting in ROS formation, which further contributes to VSMC growth, and vascular remodeling observed in hypertension(Gomez-Cambronero & Keire, 1998).

4.5.4. Long-term Ang II signaling in hypertension:

4.5.4.1. Ang II-induced ROS formation:

It's well established that oxidative stress plays an important role in the pathogenesis of hypertension (Touyz & Schiffrin, 2000). Ang-II induced experimental models of hypertension display an increased vascular formation of ROS (Aizawa et al., 2000; Laursen et al., 1997). The ability of Ang II to induce NOX activation contributes to ROS production (Rajagopalan et al., 1996). The administration of superoxide dismutase in Ang II-induced experimental models of hypertension decreased vascular ROS formation and the blood pressure by almost 55mmHg, and increased the vascular responsiveness to vasodilators (Laursen et al., 1997). These findings suggest that the enhanced Ang-II induced ROS production in hypertension plays an important role in inducing an elevation in blood pressure and decreased responsiveness to vasodilators. Moreover increased ROS formation by Ang II was also shown to principally mediate the Ang II-induced VSMC hypertrophy in hypertension (Touyz & Schiffrin, 1999).

4.5.4.2. Ang II-induced activation of tyrosine kinases:

Hypertensive rat models demonstrated an increase in the basal and Ang IIinduced activation of tyrosine kinases and ERKs in their cardiac, renal and vascular tissues.

Ang II-induced activation of the JAK/STAT tyrosine kinase pathway is significantly increased in the cardiac tissue of normotensive rats with a constricted abdominal aorta (having acute pressure overload)(Pan et al., 1997). Interestingly, the administration of Ang II-antagonists (ACE inhibitors and ARBs) in the former experimental models reversed the effects produced by JAK/STAT activation (Pan et al.,

1997). Very recent studies revealed JAK/STAT as a crucial contributor to the elevated blood pressure seen in response to Ang II. Ang II-induced JAK2 activation stimulates Arhgef1 (a RhoA huanine nucleotide exchange factor) in VSMCs (Guilluy et al., 2010). The stimulated Arhgef1 in turn activates RhoA-Rho Kinase, further increasing the blood pressure. According to this observation, recent evidence showed that pharmacological inhibition of JAK2 decreased the hypertensive response to Ang II (Kirabo et al., 2011). Moreover, activation of the JAK/STAT pathway also mediates Ang II-induced vascular hypertrophy and remodeling associated with hypertension (Dostal et al., 1997b). This is achieved mainly through the activation of VSMC growthrelated genes such as c-Fos, c-myc and alpha-2-macroglobulin (Pollack, 1995). An augmented Ang II-activation of tyrosine kinases other than the JAK/STAT is also observed in hypertension including: Src, FAK and receptor tyrosine kinases, however their exact role in vascular injury and CVDs is still unclear.

4.5.4.3. Ang II-induced MAPK activation:

MAPK-dependent signaling cascades are known for their involvement in growth, and Ang II-stimulated MAPK activation is increased in hypertension. Ang IIinduced ERK activation is high in VSMCs of SHR mesenteric arteries and aortas (Wilkie, Ng, & Boarder, 1997).

The activity of MAPKs including ERKs and JNK/SAPK is associated with the cardiac hypertrophy in Ang II-induced hypertensive models (Yano, Kim, Izumi, Yamanaka, & Iwao, 1998).

In addition to mediating growth signaling, an augmented MAPK activity also increases vasoconstriction in hypertension. Evidence showed that Ang II-induced VSMC contraction is more significant in the VSMCS of SHR compared to normotensive rats, and the increased activation of ERK1/2 was suggested to be responsible for that (Touyz, He, Deng, & Schiffrin, 1999b).

4.6. What are the mechanisms involved in vascular hyperresponsiveness to Ang II?

Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies indicated that Ang II signaling is augmented in hypertension, however the specific reasons for this require further elucidation. Despite that, binding studies, which demonstrated that AT1R mRNA and protein expression are unchanged in VSMCs, provided evidence that Ang II signaling occurs at the postreceptor level (Cortes, Andriantsitohaina, & Stoclet, 1996) and may include the following mechanisms: Increased phosphorylation of AT1R, modified AT1R-G protein coupling, impaired receptor-induced activation of upstream signaling pathways, and defective AT1R internalization and termination of the signaling event could contribute to persistent and augmented responses.

Pinpointing the exact cause underlying Ang II hyperresponsiveness in hypertension is critical and holds a significant therapeutic value via targeting specific and well-identified abnormally regulated signaling molecules in the Ang II signaling cascade.

5. The role of adipokines in obesity-induced hypertension and vascular remodeling:

Leptin and adiponectin are adipokines excessively produced by the adipose tissue. Studies have shown that leptin contributes to the CVDs associated with obesity. On the other hand, adiponectin levels negatively correlate with CVDs and metabolic disorders (Arita et al., 2012) suggesting its essential physiological role in the cardiovascular system.

5.1. Leptin in obesity-induced hypertension:

50% of obese individuals presented with hypertension as well, suggesting the vital role of obesity in inducing hypertension. Activation of the SNS and the RAAS (in response to sodium retention and increased extracellular volume) are thought to be major factors implicated in the link between obesity and hypertension. Leptin was reported as a regulator of renal hemodynamics, vascular tone, but most importantly, an activator of the SNS. Since a state of hyperleptinemia is identified in obese individuals, leptin has been postulated as a major cause of obesity-induced hypertension. It can be hypothesized that leptin may act as an anti-obesity hormone. However, this is not possible due to the existence of a leptin-resistant mechanism in obesity (Considine et al., 1996).

5.1.1. Leptin receptors:

Leptin receptors mediate the various effects of this peptide. In mice, six isoforms of Ob-R have been cloned (Ob-Ra to Ob-Rf) where Ob-Ra, Ob-Rc, Ob-Rd and Ob-Rf are the short isoforms, Ob-Rb is the long isoform and Ob-Re is the circulating isoform of the leptin receptor (G. H. Lee et al., 1996). Leptin receptors were identified in many tissues including the heart, hypothalamus, vasculature, portal vein, ECs and the cerebral and coronary vessels, and the uterus (Elmquist, Bjorbaek, Ahima, Flier, & Saper, 1998; Rajapurohitam, Gan, Kirshenbaum, & Karmazyn, 2003; Zeidan et al., 2005). The transport of leptin across the blood brain barrier is mediated by Ob-

Ra(Hileman, Tornoe, Flier, & Bjorbaek, 2000). Ob-Rb is the functional form and it was identified as the vital Ob-R isoform that mediates the leptin-induced intracellular signaling transduction (Lammert, Kiess, Bottner, Glasow, & Kratzsch, 2001).

5.1.2. Leptin and SNS activation:

Leptin is a satiety hormone that acts to increase energy expenditure and decrease food intake and appetite. Studies revealed the ability of leptin to activate the renal sympathetic nerve activity (RSNA) in animal models.

It is surprising that leptin activates the SNS activity in obese individuals even in the presence of a state of leptin resistance. However, this was made clear by correia *et al.* and rahmouni *et al.* where they demonstrated that the peripheral administration of leptin increased the RSNA in both obese and nonobese mice, however, failed to reduce food intake in the obese mice (Correia et al., 2002; Rahmouni, Haynes, Morgan, & Mark, 2002; Rahmouni, Morgan, Morgan, Mark, & Haynes, 2005). Therefore, the state of leptin resistance in obese patients limits the weight-reducing actions of leptin without affecting its stimulatory effect on the SNS. If this hypothesis is shown to be consistent in human as well, it will prove that leptin is a major contributor to obesity-dependent hypertension.

Of importance, acute leptin administration did not show an elevation in blood pressure, whereas a chronic administration of leptin induced hypertension in animal models (Kassab et al., 1995).

5.1.3. Acute vs. chronic leptin administration:

Despite that the administration of leptin increases RSNA, if given acutely (for short periods of time), it induces a natriuretic response and an increased urine output,

without altering the blood pressure in normotensive and lean rat models (Beltowski, W jcicka, Gorny, & Marciniak, 2002; Jackson & Li, 1997; Villarreal, Reams, Freeman, & Taraben, 1998).

Interestingly, evidence provided that leptin stimulates systemic NO release which counteracts the pressor and anti-natriuretic effect of leptin-induced SNS activation and this was postulated mechanism by which acute-leptin administration induces natriuresis in the lean rats. On the other hand, studies on obese rats showed that the natriuretic effect of acute leptin administration is decreased and even diminished in SHR models (Beltowski et al., 2002; Villarreal et al., 1998). This may suggest the presence of chronic antinatriuretic mechanisms such as an enhanced RSNA and RAAS, which reverse the leptin-mediated natriuretic effect (Villarreal et al., 1998). In this regard, it was shown that denervation of the kidney in SHR recovered the natriuretic response of acutely administered leptin (Villarreal et al., 1998).

Conversely, the chronic administration of leptin (which mimics the case of obesity; persistent hyperleptinemia) increases the blood pressure and the RSNA. Studies showed that when experiment chronic leptin administration decreases natriuresis and the excretion of NO metabolites (Beltowski, Jamroz-Wisniewska, Borkowska, & Wojcicka, 2004). In this situation, there is a resistance to the satiety effect of leptin while preserving its stimulatory effect on the SNS, and this was shown to take place either due to the deficiency of systemic and intrarenal NO production and/or increased RSNA (Beach, 1992; Echtenkamp & Dandridge, 1989; Kirchheim, Ehmke, & Persson, 1989).

5.1.4. Clinical significance:

Several studies revealed that leptin positively correlates with BP in both obese and nonobese individuals (Al-Hazimi & Syiamic, 2004; Golan et al., 2002; Itoh et al., 2002; Kunz, Schorr, Klaus, & Sharma, 2000). It was shown that serum leptin and Ang II levels were considered as markers of increased blood pressure in obese woman(Al-Hazimi & Syiamic, 2004). Moreover, studies showed that leptin levels were higher in obese hypertensive individuals compared to normotensive obese individuals. Taken together, these observations suggest leptin as a potential cause of obesity-induced hypertension.

5.1.5. Pharmacotherapeutic considerations with reference to ACE and ARBs: *The link between Ang II and leptin:*

A high adipose tissue mass mainly accounts for the increased leptin concentration observed in obese hypertensive individuals. However, current evidences are revealing the role of other factors such as an amplified RAAS in mediating the increased leptin in obesity-induced hypertension.

One study by skurk *et al.* showed that Ang II stimulates leptin production by the human adipocytes (Skurk, van Harmelen, Blum, & Hauner, 2005). This response was blunted when an ARB (candesartan) was given before Ang II administration in human adipocytes. Also, another study by fogari *et al.* showed that valsartan (ARB), in addition to decreasing the blood pressure in obese patients, also reduced leptin levels (Fogari et al., 2005). Moreover, when administered with a weight-loss program, ACE inhibitors were shown to significantly reduce leptin levels in comparison to those treated solely with weight reduction (Masuo, Mikami, Ogihara, & Tuck, 2001). Also,

Zeidan *et al.* showed that mechanical stretch of the RPV (hypertension mimicking) induces leptin synthesis, and leptin triggers vascular remodeling of the RPV (Zeidan et al., 2005). Interestingly, the administration of an ACE inhibitor abrogated the leptin-induced vascular hypertrophy and remodeling (Zeidan et al., 2005).

Although not all studies are consistent and some studies disagree with the former findings (Sonmez et al., 2001), it seems that the pharmacological inhibition of RAAS, and recently the hyperleptinemia with ACE inhibitors and ARBs may resemble a blood pressure reducing effect through decreased leptin levels.

5.2. The protective role of adiponectin in the vasculature:

In contrast to leptin, plasma adiponectin levels are inversely proportional to adiposity (Arita et al., 2012; Goldstein, Scalia, & Ma, 2009), suggesting the essential role of adiponectin in the cardiovascular system.

5.2.1. Vascular actions of adiponectin :

Adiponectin binds to a number of receptors, most importantly the adiponectin receptors (AdipoR1 and AdipoR2). AdipoR1 is ubiquitously expressed, including the cardiovascular system and the cardiac tissue, while AdipoR2 is highly expressed in the liver(Yamauchi et al., 2003). Animal models with a targeted deletion of AdipoR1 or AdipoR2 genes showed a defective adiponectin signaling, indicating the important role of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 in mediating the adiponectin-induced signaling transduction.

Upon binding to its receptors, adiponectin exerts many protective effects against different vascular disorders like hypertension and atherosclerosis (Ewart, Kohlhaas, & Salt, 2008).

Adiponectin activates eNOS via AMPK-activation, leading to nitric oxide (NO) production (Ouchi et al., 2000). Indeed, NO was shown to mediate the several protective effects of adiponectin such as the inhibition of VSMC proliferation and regulation of VSMC contraction and blood pressure (Ewart et al., 2008). In addition, studies showed that adiponectin selectively binds to several growth factors and attenuates their agonist-receptor interaction(Jhund & McMurray, 2008; Meng et al., 2011). Moreover, adiponectin was shown to have an anti-inflammatory response, which is due to its ability to activate AMPK and other non-AMPK mechanisms that inhibit NFkB and consequently attuenuate the expression of certain adhesion molecules and the release of IL-8 (Baden et al., 2013; Ouchi et al., 2000).



Figure 1. Summary of molecular signaling responses to leptin and adiponectin and their vascular effect. \uparrow Or + represents activation of a protein or effect. – and \checkmark represents inhibition of a protein or effect. (*Adapted from Ghantous and Azrak et al 2015*)

CHAPTER II

RATIONALE AND AIMS OF STUDY

There is a bulk of evidence supporting the role of Ang II and the obesityassociated adipokine leptin, in the pathogenesis of vascular hypertrophy and remodeling, where Ang II and leptin appeared to mediate the hypertrophic response of one another. Studies showed that leptin levels are high in obese normotensive, obese hypertensive and nonobese hypertensive experimental models and leptin was shown to induce vascular remodeling in all three cases. Zeidan et al 2005 demonstrated that high leptin levels increase the expression of angiotensinogen and AT1R. This led us to investigate whether a feedback mechanism or a cross talk between leptin and Ang II exists. Moreover, if an ACE inhibitor (Captopril) abrogated the leptin-induced vascular remodeling, how is Ang II (a well-established vascular hypertrophic agent) significantly contributing to the leptin-induced vascular remodeling? **See figure 2**

The present work focuses on studying the Ang II-induced leptin synthesis in the VSMCs, and the underlying mechanisms involved. If Ang II induces leptin synthesis in VSMCs, we will be acquiring a novel perspective on Ang II-induced vascular VSMC hypertrophy via increased leptin synthesis. This finding, in conjunction with investigating the signaling pathways involved provides newer insights on the mechanisms underlying Ang II-induced hypertrophy (directly or through leptin synthesis) and leptin-induced hypertrophy.



Figure 2. Rationale Of Study. A diagram that summarizes the motivation/rationale of the present study. See text for more information.

The objective of this present study was to investigate the effect of Ang II on leptin synthesis in the VSMCs, and identify the underlying molecular mechanisms involved, which ultimately result in vascular hypertrophy and remodeling. Our major aims include:

AIM 1: To identify whether Ang II induces leptin synthesis in VSMCs. See fig. 3. **AIM 2:** To identify the underlying molecular mechanisms of Ang II-induced leptin synthesis and Ang II-induced hypertrophy in the VSMCs: See fig.3.

- (a) The involvement of EGFR activation, RhoA/ROCK and NOX pathways.
- (b) Identifying if the key signaling proteins: Cofilin, Akt and p38 are the downstream effectors of the signaling mechanisms identified in (a)
- (c) Identifying the effect of Ang II on GATA-4 nuclear translocation possibly mediating vascular remodeling and hypertrophy.
- (d) Identifying whether actin cytoskeleton dynamics mediate the hypertrophic effect of Ang II.

AIM 3: Investigating the protective role of adiponectin in attenuating the Ang IIinduced ERK1/2 (a major hypertrophic protein) activation. See fig. 3.



Figure 3. A summary of the specific aims of the study. + and \uparrow indicate activation of a signaling mechanism. See text for more information.

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS & METHODS

1. Experimental protocol

The main objective of this study was to study the Ang II-induced leptin synthesis and the underlying molecular mechanisms of this process in VSMCs of the RPV. The analysis was comprised of ex *vivo* and *in vitro* analysis. In both cases the response is probably different (but often complementary) from the whole organism. We mainly relied on the *ex vivo* analysis due to close resemblance of this model to the normal physiological conditions.

1.1. Ex vivo analysis:

The rat portal vein was isolated from male Sprague-Dawley rats and cultured in the presence/absence of drugs for the desired experimental duration. Following their culture, the RPVs were subjected to Western blot, immunohistochemical and PCR analysis (will be further discussed below). The experimental set up always (in both ex vivo and in vitro analysis) consisted of a RPV divided into two equal segments, where one segment was left untreated (negative control) and the other segment was treated with Ang II for 1 hour/15minutes/24 hours (refer to fig 4). This formed the negative (untreated) and positive (Ang II-treated) controls which were employed as a baseline to which other groups are compared against. The other groups in some experiments consisted of RPVs treated with a combination of Ang II and an inhibitor (of a specific pathway/receptor). This combination allowed us to investigate the role of a specific pathway/receptor in mediating the Ang II-induced effects (such as leptin synthesis and

activation of signaling proteins/mechanisms) by comparing the results obtained from the combination (Ang II + inhibitor) to the RPV treated with Ang II only (positive control).

1.2. In vitro analysis:

VSMCs of the rat aorta were extracted and then cultured in the absence/presence of Ang II for 1 hour, another group of cells were treated with a combination of Ang II and an inhibitor (such as Cytochalasin D and Y-27632 (will be further clarified in the following section). Finally, following their culture, VSMCs underwent an immunocytochemical analysis (will be further discussed below).

2. Inhibitors used in the experimental studies and the rationale for using them:

2.1. Apocynin:

Ang II is a stimulant of oxidative stress and redox-dependent signaling(Taniyama & Griendling, 2003) and Ang II was shown to induce ROS production through the activation of NOXs in VSMCs. The oxidative stress resulting from ROS activates inflammatory pathways including the nuclear factor-κB (NF-κB) pathway to generate different pro-inflammatory factors, cytokines, chemokines, proteinases and adhesion molecules that all result in functional and structural modifications contributing to accelerated proliferation, hypertrophy and vascular remodeling in hypertension (Intengan et al., 1999; Kim & Iwao, 2000; Touyz & Schiffrin, 2000). Apocynin (acetovanillone) is a pharmacological agent that has been isolated from a variety of plant sources and used experimentally as a specific NOX inhibitor. Following its metabolic conversion, apocynin inhibits the assembly of NOX

that is responsible for ROS formation (Stefanska & Pawliczak, 2008). It was therefore used in this study to identify the role of NOX and ROS formation.

2.2. AG-1478:

Studies have shown that EGFR mediates Ang II-induced vascular hypertrophy (Kagiyama et al., 2002). Tyrphostin AG 1478 is a tyrosine kinase inhibitor specifically selective to inhibit EGFR (ErbB1) (Osherov & Levitzki, 1994). Using AG-1478 allowed for the assessment of the role of EGFR in the different approaches of this study.

2.3. Y-27632:

Studies have shown that the RhoA/ROCK pathway is activated by Ang II and mediates the Ang II-induced hypertrophy(Zeidan et al., 2014)RhoA (the active form of Rho) induces ROCK activation, and ROCK facilitates a hypertrophic response(Zeidan et al., 2014). Y-27632 is extensively used as a specific inhibitor of the Rho-associated coiled-coil forming protein serine/threonine kinase (ROCK) family of protein kinases, using this inhibitor reveals the role of the RhoA/ROCK pathway in the different approaches of this study.

2.4. Cytochalasin D:

The state of the actin cytoskeleton (depolymerized or intact/polymerized) strongly determines the mechanical properties of cells and tissues. Ang II appeared to alter the dynamics of the actin cytoskeleton and contribute to the formation of more intact, filamentous actin (F-actin) (Kaibuchi et al., 1999; Zeidan et al., 2014)This effect was implicated in the Ang II-induced hypertrophy (Kaibuchi et al., 1999; Zeidan et al., 2014). Cytochalasin D is a commonly used compound that, by different mechanisms,

modifies the state of actin polymerization and is considered as an actin depolymerizing agent. It was used to assess the role of the intact cytoskeleton in the different approaches of this present study.

3. Portal vein organ culture:

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (200-250 g) were sacrificed by carbon dioxide euthanasia. Portal veins were isolated from the rat, placed in N-HEPES (400 mM Nacl, 200 mMKCL, 100mM MgCl₂, 100mM HEPES, 11.5 mM glucose, 5% penecillin-(DMEM)/F-12 HAM, 5% penicillin/streptomycin) buffering agent in which fat and connective tissue were stripped off the vessel. The veins were pinned onto an autoclaved petri dish, cut open longitudinally and divided into two equal segments using the appropriate dissection tools (pins, forceps, and scissors). The segments were transferred to a culture medium (DMEM/F-12 HAM, 5% penicillin/streptomycin) as control samples or to a conditioned culture medium and incubated at 37°c in a humid atmosphere of 5% CO2 and 95% air. Ang II (Human Ang II, Sigma-Aldrich, USA), and adiponectin were added in a final concentration of 10 µM for the desired experimental duration. Inhibitors such as the NOX inhibitor apocynin (1µM, 4- Hydroxy-3methoxyacetophenone, Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA), the selective ROCK inhibitor Y- 27632 (1 µM, Sigma Aldrich, Oakville, Canada), and the EGFR inhibitor AG-1478 (1 µM, Sigma Aldrich, Oakville, Canada), were added to the media 1 hour before adding the treatment (Ang II). See Figure 4.



Figure 4. RPV organ culture. A summary of the steps in RPV organ culture

4. Protein extraction and quantification:

Incubated portal veins were transferred to liquid nitrogen at -196°c and smashed using a tissue homogenizer. Next, they were added to a laemmli lysis buffer (biorad, USA) and prepared with 5% protease inhibitor (Roche, Europe). Then the samples were centrifuged at 9000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°c. Following centrifugation, the pellet was discarded and the supernatant was taken and placed at 95°c for 7 minutes, forming the final protein homogenates.

The assay performed to quantify the homogenates was a micro colorimetric Lowry assay (Biorad DC Protein Assay; cat #s. 500-0113, 500-0114, 500-0115,) adapted to microplates. A standard curve was prepared using bovine serum albumin (BSA) powder dissolved in distilled water and diluted to a series of dilutions (0 mg/ml, 0.125 mg/ml ,0.25 mg/ml, 0.5 mg/ml,1 mg/ml,1.5 mg/ml,2 mg/ml,3 mg/ml). Duplicates of 10 μ l of the prepared concentrations of protein standard samples were loaded in the microplate wells in order of their concentration. 5 μ l of protein samples were loaded in duplicates and diluted with 5 μ l distilled water. A protein mix of 1:50 reagent A (Biorad DC Protein Assay; cat no. 500-0113) and reagent S (Biorad DC Protein Assay; cat no. 500-0115) was prepared. 25 μ l of this mix was added in each of the protein standards and samples' wells by repetitive pipette. Then 200 μ l of reagent B (Biorad DC Protein Assay; cat no. 500-0114) was added in each of the protein standards and samples' wells by repetitive pipette. Then 200 μ l of reagent B (Biorad DC Protein Assay; cat no. 500-0114) was added in each of the protein standards by repetitive pipette. The plate was then incubated in the dark for 10 minutes. Finally the plate was read using the ELISA reader at 750 nm.

5. Western blot analysis - SDS PAGE :

The homogenates of RPV tissues were run on a 12% mini polyacrylamide gel and separated by gel electrophoresis depending on their molecular weights then subsequently transferred overnight in the cold room at 4°c onto a nitrocellulose membrane. The membrane was then blocked for 1 hour at room temperature with nonfat milk in TBST buffer solution and probed with primary antibodies against GAPDH, leptin, p-cofilin, p-ERK1/2, p-Akt, t-Akt and p-p38 which were added in 1:500 or 1:1000 (GAPDH) dilution with 5% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) solution at room temperature for one hour. The proteins of interest were then detected with anti-mouse and anti-rabbit secondary antibodies (Santa-Cruz biotechnology, Europe) that were added in a 2:10,000 dilution with a 5% non-fat milk preparation. Following antibodies incubation and subsequent washes, Clarity Western ECL substrate (Biorad) was added to the membrane according to the manufacturer's instructions to view the proteins of interest. Protein blots were viewed and imaged using the Chemidoc Imaging System (Biorad).

Primary Antibodies	Company
GAPDH	Santa-Cruz biotechnology, Europe
Leptin- Ob-A (20)	Santa-Cruz biotechnology, Europe
p-p38 (Thr180/Tyr182)	Cell Signaling Technology, USA
p-Cofilin (Ser3)	Santa-Cruz biotechnology, Europe
p-Akt (Ser473)	Santa-Cruz biotechnology, Europe

Table 1.	Primary	antibodies	used in	Western blot	
----------	---------	------------	---------	--------------	--

t-Akt	Cell Signaling Technology, USA
p-ERK1/2 (Thr 202/Tyr 204)	Cell signaling technology, USA

6. Immunohistochemistry

The RPVs were cultured and treated with Ang II (10 μ M) and leptin (3.1nM) in culturing media (DMEM/F-12 HAM, 5% penicillin/streptomycin) for the desired experimental duration, and inhibitors Cytochalasin D (CD) (Calbiochem, USA) and Y-27632 were added in a concentration of 1 μ M in culturing media for 1 hour prior to the treatment. Following their treatment, RPVs were sliced cross-sectionally into frozen sections of 4 μ m thicknesses.

6.1. **ROS** study:

The superoxide indicator di-hydro-ethidium (DHE) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) exhibits blue fluorescence in the cytosol until oxidized where it intercalates with the cell's DNA, staining its nucleus with a bright red fluorescence. A DHE dye conjugated to Alexa Fluor 594 (Molecular Probes, life technologies) was added in the dark to the RPV sections at a concentration of 10 μ M in N-HEPES buffer solution placed at 37°c, 5% CO2 for 30 minutes. A mounting dye containing DAPI (Ultracruz hard-set mounting medium, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Europe) was added to the sections before their examination using a laser confocal microscope (LSM710, Zeiss).
6.2. G and F actin:

The sections were fixed using 4% formaldehyde, 0.2% Triton x-100 in the cytoskeleton stabilizing buffer PEM buffer (100 mM PIPES, 5 mM EGTA, 2 mM MgCl2, pH 6.9) for 20 minutes at room temperature. They were then rinsed twice in PBS and permeabilized with 0.2% Triton x-100 in PBS for 15 minutes. Blocking buffer (1% BSA and 0.1% Triton x-100 in PBS) was used for 10 minutes. The sections were then incubated with the F-actin stain Phalloidin labeled with a red fluorescent dye (100 nM; Actin-stain 555 phalloidin, Cytoskeleton, Denver, Colorado, USA) and the G-actin stain Deoxyribonuclease I labeled with a green dye (300 nM; Alexa Fluor 488 conjugate, Invitrogen, NY, USA) in blocking buffer for 20 minutes in the dark. They were then rinsed twice with PBS and viewed with the laser confocal microscope (LSM710, Zeiss).

7. Immunocytochemistry:

7.1. Vascular smooth muscle cell extraction:

Sprague Dawely rats (100-150 g) were scarified and the aorta was extracted and cleaned from connective tissues and fat layer. Then the aorta was cut and transferred into PBS with Ca2+ and Mg2+ to remove the remaining blood traces. After that, the aorta was cut longitudinally under the bio-cabinet hood and the endothelium was then scrubbed with bent–head forceps and incubated with 3-5 ml collagenases A91/20) for 1 hr. at 37C. Afterwards, the adventitia was removed with the bent-head forceps by sloughing and the tissue was cut into multi pieces (6-8). The aorta pieces were then transferred into cell culture flasks after adding an appropriate amount of complete media with low glucose. The flasks were incubated at 37C, 5%, CO2 for several days to

allow the cells to migrate out of the aorta to the flask. Then the media was changed and the aorta pieces were removed after the vascular cells got attached to the flask. These cells were considered as P0 cells at this stage.

7.2. Cell staining and imaging:

The rat aortic smooth muscle cells were incubated for 72 hours with serum (FBS-Fetal Bovine Serum) followed by a 24-hour starvation without serum. The cells were then treated with Ang II (10 μ M) for 1 hour. The inhibitors, CD (1 μ M) and Y (1 µM) were added 1 hour prior to treatment with Ang II. Following the treatment of the cells, the media is aspirated and cells are rinsed with 1ml PBS without Ca2+ / Mg2+. Afterwards, cells were then fixed with 4% formaldehyde (0.8g of paraformaldehyde, few drops of NaOH 4M, in PBS1x) and then permeabilized with permeabilizing buffer (0.2% triton X in PBS). Permeabilizing buffer is then discarded and cells were blocked with blocking buffer (1%BSA, 0.1% triton x-100 in PBS) for 1 hour. After that, cells were incubated with the primary antibodies GATA-4 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Europe) and leptin (Ob (A-20), Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Europe) where 1µL of antibody was added to 1ml antibody solution (1% BSA, tween 0.05% in PBS) and left overnight at 4C in the dark. The antibodies were then aspirated, and cells were rinsed with washing buffer (Put 10μ L of tween 20 in 10 mL PBS 1x). Next, cells were incubated for 1 hour at 4C in the dark with the specific secondary antibodies' conjugates: either FITC or ALEXA (1:250 antibody ratio in 1% BSA, PBS, tween (0.05%). Phalloidin, or the actin stain (7µL phalloidin in 1 mL blocking solution) was then added in the dark for 20 minutes, followed by drops of DAPI to stain the nucleus in the cells. The cells were then finally viewed by confocal microscopy.

8. RNA isolation, reverse transcription, and real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis of AdipoR1, AdipoR2, Adiponectin and 18S rRNA

8.1. RNA isolation and extraction:

RPVs were homogenized and placed in Tri-Reagent (Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA). Choloform (Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA) was then added at a 1:5 ratio in Tri-Reagent. The solution was mixed, left out for 3 minutes, and then centrifuged at 12000 RPM for 15 minutes at 4°C. The resulting clear supernatant contained the RNA. Isopropanol (Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA) was later added, followed by centrifugation at 12000 RPM for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and discarded, while 75% ethanol was added to the pellet, which contained the RNA. The mixture was centrifuged at 12000 RPM for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was then aspirated and discarded. RNase-free water was then added to the pellet and vortexed, resulting in the RNA solution, which was finally put in a heat block at 60°C for 10 minutes. The RNA was quantified using Nanodrop and RNase-free water as standard (λ =260).

8.2. Reverse Transcriptase PCR:

Based on the RNA quantification, the volume of RNA was calculated to get a final mass of 1 μ g of total RNA. 6 μ L of 5x buffer solution (iScript Reaction Mix, Bio-Rad Laboratories, California, USA) and 1 μ L of iScript RNase H⁺ reverse transcriptase were added to each tube. The volume was completed with water to reach a final volume of 30 μ L. The samples were placed in the RT-PCR machine (Bio-Rad Laboratories, California, USA), where the cycle began at 25°C for 5 minutes, 42°C for 30 minutes, 85°C for 5 minutes, and ended at 4°C. The cDNA samples were stored at 4°C.

8.3. Real-Time PCR:

1 μL of the cDNA was used in each well. The standard was 18S rRNA. iQ solution (Bio-Rad Laboratories, California, USA) was added according to instructions of the manufacturer. Leptin and leptin receptor OBRb primers were added at annealing temperatures of 58°C. The plate was placed in the PCR machine (Bio-Rad Laboratories, California, USA), where 50 cycles took place. Cycles began at 95°C for 1:09 minutes, 52°C for 12 seconds, 72°C for 9 seconds, and finally 60°C for 1:15 minutes. Melt curve analysis was done and the results were quantified and analyzed using the Delta-Delta CT method.

Table 2.	Primers	used	in	PCR
----------	---------	------	----	-----

Gene	Forward Primer (5'-3')	Reverse Primer (5'-3')	Annealing temperature
Adiponectin	ACCCAGGAGATGCTG	ACCTGGAGCCAGACTTGGTC	50°C
Adiponectin receptor 1 (AdipoR1)	GCTGGCCTTTATGCTGCTCG	TCTAGGCCGTAACGGAATTC	58.9°C
Adiponectin receptor 2 (AdipoR2)	CCACAACCTTGCTTCATCTA	GATACTGAGGGGGGGGGCAAAC	55.5°C
18S	GTAACCCGTTGAACCCCATT	CCATCCAATCGGTAGTAGCG	52.8°C

9. Statistical analysis and data presentation:

Protein bands were quantified using ImageJ (National Institutes of Health, USA). The results of the experimental group were normalized to the untreated RPVs and presented as the mean and standard error of the mean (S.E.M) for each group. Statistics were made using SigmaStat 3.2 (Systat Software, San Jose, California, USA) and significance of variations were calculated using unpaired t-test or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and significance tested by Holm-Sidak or Dunnet's method. The data were represented in graphs using SigmaPlot 10.0 (Systat Software, San Jose, California, USA). Microscopic images for immunohistochemisty were taken using ZEN confocal software (Carl Zeiss, 2009) and fluorescence intensity was calculated using the same program.

CHAPTER VI

RESULTS

1. Ang II-induces leptin synthesis in VSMCs

We investigated the effect of Ang II on leptin synthesis in VSMCs. RPVs were isolated from rats and divided into two equal segments which were cultured in the absence/presence of Ang II for 1 hour. Western blot analysis revealed a highly significant increase (p<0.001), by almost 1.64 folds, in Ang II-induced leptin expression compared to the untreated RPVs. See Figure 5A.

The same hypothesis was also studied by immunocytochemical analysis via confocal imaging, which was performed on VSMCs of the rat aorta. Confocal microscopic images showed a clear Ang II-induced leptin synthesis in VSMCs at 1 hour (by almost 4.7 folds) compared to the untreated VSMCs. On the other hand, the 3-hour-Ang II-treatment of VSMCs revealed an approximately 1.7 fold increase in leptin synthesis compared to the untreated VSMCs. The untreated VSMCs barely showed leptin. **See Figures 5B and 5C.**





Figure 5. Ang II-induced leptin synthesis in VSMCs. A. RPVs were cultured in the presence/absence of Ang II (10 μ M) for 1 hour. Leptin expression was evaluated by Western blotting densitometric scans and normalized to the untreated RPVs. Data are expressed as means ± S.E.M. (n=5). **, P<0.01, *, P<0.05. Corresponding representative Western blots are shown under bars. B. Representative confocal images of VSMCs that were cultured in the absence/presence of Ang II (10 μ M) for 1 hour and 3 hours as labelled above. VSMCs were stained with DAPI (nucleus, blue), phalloidin (actin cytoskeleton, green), and anti-leptin antibody (red). C. Histograms presenting the fold change in leptin intensity. Leptin intensity was evaluated by immunofluorescence densitometric scans and normalized to the untreated VSMCs. Data are expressed as means ± S.E.M (n=2).

2. The RhoA/ROCK pathway and intact actin cytoskeleton are involved in Ang II-induced leptin synthesis in VSMCs.

The next step was to investigate the different molecular mechanisms involved in Ang II-induced leptin synthesis in VSMCs. An immunocytochemical analysis (confocal imaging) was done on VSMCs of the rat aorta, which were cultured in the absence/presence of Ang II (1 hour). The analysis involved pretreatment of the VSMCs (before adding Ang II) with the inhibitor of the RhoA/ROCK pathway (Y-27632) and the actin-depolymerizing agent, cytochalasin-D (CD) for 1 hour in order to assess the involvement of the RhoA/ROCK pathway and the intact cytoskeleton in Ang IIinduced leptin synthesis. Confocal images depicted a visible, statistically significant and almost equal reduction (53% to 57% decrease) in Ang II-induced leptin synthesis in both Ang II+Y-27632 and Ang II+CD treated cells compared to the VSMCs treated with only Ang II (without the inhibitors) (n=2). However, both inhibitors (CD and Y-27632) did not reverse leptin expression to the basal level seen in the untreated RPV. **See Figures 6A and 6B.**



Figure 6. The RhoA/ROCK pathway and intact actin cytoskeleton are involved in Ang II-induced leptin synthesis in VSMCs. A. Representative confocal images of VSMCs that were cultured in the absence/presence of Ang II (10 μ M) for 1 hour and pretreated (before adding Ang II) with the inhibitor of RhoA/ROCK pathway (Y-27632, 1 μ M) and the actin depolymerizing agent (CD, 1 μ M) for 1 hour. RASMCs were stained with DAPI (nucleus, blue), and leptin-antibody (red). **B.** Histograms presenting the fold change in leptin intensity. Leptin intensity was evaluated by immunofluorescence densitometric scans and normalized to the untreated VSMCs. Data are expressed as means ± S.E.M.). **, P<0.01 Vs untreated RPVs, #, P<0.05 Vs RPVs treated only with Ang II. (n=2)

3. NOX, EGFR activation and the RhoA/ROCK pathway are involved in Ang IIinduced leptin synthesis in VSMCs.

We hypothesized that NOX, EGFR activation and the RhoA/ROCK pathway are involved in Ang II-induced leptin synthesis. To test this hypothesis, and further unravel the molecular mechanisms involved, we performed a Western blot analysis that involved using the inhibitor of NOX (apocynin), inhibitor of EGFR (AG-1478) and the inhibitor of RhoA/ROCK pathway (Y-27632) (used in study 2 and again in this study to further validate its involvement). RPVs were cultured in the absence/presence of Ang II and the inhibitors were added 1 hour prior to the addition of Ang II. The combination with either apocynin or AG-1478 or Y-27632 significantly attenuated (P<0.05 for apocynin and Y, and p<0.01 for AG) the Ang II-induced leptin synthesis (n= $3\rightarrow 8$) when compared to the RPVs treated with only Ang II (without inhibitors). When compared to the untreated RPVs, the combination with AG-1478 attenuated (statistically significant compared to the untreated RPVs) the leptin synthesis beyond its basal level (70% statistically significant decrease in leptin expression compared to the RPV treated with Ang II only), whereas the combination with apocynin and Y-27632 almost returned the leptin level to its basal state. **See Figure 7.**



Figure 7. NOX, EGFR activation and the RhoA/ROCK pathway are involved in Ang IIinduced leptin synthesis in VSMCs. RPVs were cultured in the presence/absence of Ang II (10 μ M) for 1 hour, and pretreated (before adding Ang II) with the inhibitors of NOX (Apocynin, 1 μ M), EGFR (AG-1478, 1 μ M) activation, and RhoA/ROCK pathway (Y-27632, 1 μ M) for 1 hour. Leptin expression was evaluated by Western blotting densitometric scans and normalized to the untreated RPVs. Data are expressed as means ± S.E.M. (n=3 \rightarrow 8).**, P<0.01 Vs. untreated RPVs, #, P<0.05 Vs. RPVs treated only with Ang II, ##, P<0.01 Vs. RPVs treated only with Ang II. Corresponding representative Western blots are shown under bars.

4. Ang II induces ROS formation and the RhoA/ROCK and the intact cytoskeleton mediate this process.

We previously evaluated the significance of NOX in Ang II-induced leptin synthesis. It is well established that ROS formation is mediated by NOX. Now in this study, we studied if Ang II induces ROS formation (at 1 hour) in frozen sections (4µm thickness) of RPVs via immunohistochemical analysis. We also used the inhibitors of the RhoA/ROCK pathway (Y-27632) and the actin-depolymerizing agent (CD), that were added to the cultured RPVs 1 hour prior to the addition of Ang II, in order to verify if the RhoA/ROCK pathway and the intact cytoskeleton are upstream to NOX activation. Confocal images of the RPV sections revealed that Ang II induces almost a 3.7 fold increase in ROS formation compared to the untreated RPVs (N=2). Both Y-27632 and CD attenuated the Ang II-mediated ROS formation by almost 31% to 34% (compared against the RPVs treated with Ang II only), however did not return it to the basal level of ROS in the untreated RPV. See Figures 8A and 8B.



Figure 8. Ang II induces ROS formation and the RhoA/ROCK and the intact cytoskeleton mediate this process. A. Representative confocal images for ROS detection in frozen RPV sections that were previously cultured in the presence/absence of Ang II (10 μ M) for 1 hour, and pretreated (before adding Ang II) with the inhibitor of the RhoA/ROCK pathway (Y-27632, 1 μ M) and actin depolymerizing agent (CD, 1 μ M) for 1 hour. The RPVs were stained with DAPI (nucleus, blue) and DHE stain (ROS, red). B. Histograms presenting the fold change in ROS intensity. ROS intensity was evaluated by immunofluorescence densitometric scans and normalized to the untreated RPVs. Data are expressed as means \pm S.E.M. **, P<0.01 Vs. untreated RPVs (n=2)

5. Ang II reduces G/F actin ratio and the RhoA/ROCK pathway mediates this response.

An alteration in the G/F actin ratio is a good indicator of a hypertrophic response where a lower G/F ratio is implicated in vascular hypertrophy (Zeidan et al., 2007a; Zeidan et al., 2014). We theorized that since Ang II is a hypertrophy-mediating protein, it decreases the G/F actin ratio. To test this theory, we performed an immunohistochemical analysis on frozen sections of RPVs (4µm thickness). RPVs were cultured in the presence/absence of Ang II (24 hours). We also tested for the implication of the RhoA/ROCK pathway in this process by using its inhibitor, Y-27632, that was added to the cultured RPV 1 hour prior to Ang II treatment. Confocal images showed that Ang II reduced the G/F actin ratio (by 16%, when compared to the untreated RPV), however the statistical analysis did not show a remarkable reduction compared to the untreated RPV; on the other hand, Y-27632 increased the G/F actin ratio compared to both the untreated RPV and the RPV treated with Ang II only, but again the statistical analysis did not reveal a notable increase (n=2). **See Figures 9A and 9B.**





Figure 9. Ang II reduces G/F actin ratio and the RhoA/ROCK pathway mediates this response. A. Representative confocal images for G and F actin detection in frozen RPV sections that were previously cultured in the presence/absence of Ang II (10 μ M) for 24 hours, and pretreated (before adding Ang II) with the inhibitor of the RhoA/ROCK pathway (Y-27632, 1 μ M) for 1 hour. The RPVs were stained with deoxyribonuclease I (actin, green) and phalloidin (F actin, red) **B.** Histograms presenting the fold change in G/F actin ratio. Actin (G and F) intensity was evaluated by immunofluorescence densitometric scans and the G/F ratio was normalized to the untreated RPVs. Data are expressed as means ± S.E.M. (n=2)

6. Ang II promotes GATA-4 nuclear translocation, and the RhoA/ROCK pathway and the intact cytoskeleton promote this effect.

GATA-4 is a transcription factor that was shown to take part in the regulation of inducible gene expression in cardiomyocytes (Molkentin, 2000). Moreover, studies showed that GATA-4 is a critical regulator of the Ang II type 1a receptor gene expression in response to an increased pressure in the rat heart (Herzig et al., 1997). Recent studies also showed that the RhoA/ROCK pathway is implicated in serotoninmediated mitogenesis in the SMCs of the pulmonary artery (Y. Liu, Suzuki, Day, & Fanburg, 2004). Collectively, these findings reveal the important role of GATA-4 in mediating cardiovascular hypertrophy. Accordingly, we wanted to test for the effect of Ang II on nuclear GATA-4 translocation and the contributing role of the RhoA/ROCK pathway and intact cytoskeleton in VSMCs. VSMCs were cultured in the absence/presence of Ang II for 1 hour. The actin depolymerizing agent (CD) and the inhibitor of the RhoA/ROCK pathway (Y-27632) were added 1 hour prior to the addition of Ang II. Confocal images showed a visible GATA-4 nuclear translocation in the Ang II-treated cells compared to the untreated VSMCs (n=2). The combination with both Y-27632 and CD resulted in a visible inhibition of the Ang II-induced GATA-4 nuclear translocation, where CD almost reversed the effect to the basal conditions seen in the untreated VSMCs. See Figure 10.



Figure 10. Ang II promotes GATA-4 nuclear translocation. Representative confocal images for GATA-4 nuclear translocation in VSMCs. VSMCs were previously cultured in the presence/absence of Ang II (10 μ M) for 1 hour, and pretreated (before adding Ang II) with the inhibitor of the RhoA/ROCK pathway (Y-27632, 1 μ M) and actin depolymerizing agent (CD, 1 μ M) for 1 hour.

7. Identifying the downstream effectors of EGFR activation and the RhoA/ROCK pathway: Involvement of p-Cofilin, p-p38 and p-Akt.

We previously studied whether NOX activation, EGFR activation and the RhoA/ROCK pathway are upstream signaling mechanisms mediating the Ang IIinduced leptin synthesis. Study 4 was performed to identify if RhoA/ROCK pathway and the intact cytoskeleton are upstream to NOX activation. Now, this study aims at identifying if Ang II phosphorylates p-Cofilin (**Figure 11A**), p-p38 (**Figure 11B**) and p-Akt (**Figure 11C**), and if these signaling proteins are considered amongst the downstream effectors of the Ang II-induced EGFR and RhoA/ROCK pathway activation.

Isolated RPVs were cultured in the absence/presence of Ang II for 15 minutes. The inhibitors of EGFR activation (AG-1478) and the RhoA/ROCK pathway (Y-27632) were added 1 hour prior to Ang II treatment.

Figure 11 (**A**) shows that Ang II significantly (p<0.01) induces p-cofilin phosphorylation by an almost 1.673 fold increase compared to the untreated RPV (n=4). Ang II+Y-27632 treated RPVs presented with an almost 63% reduction and highly significant (p<0.01) inhibition of Ang II-induced p-Cofilin activation compared to the RPVs treated with only Ang II (n=4). Ang II+AG-1478 treated RPVs also showed a significant (p<0.05), almost 38% inhibition, of Ang II-induced p-Cofilin activation when compared to RPVs treated only with Ang II (n=4). However, the inhibitory effect of Y-27632 decreased p-Cofilin phosphorylation below the basal conditions in untreated RPVs. Whereas AG-1478 reversed Cofilin phosphorylation to basal levels.

Figure 11 (**B**) illustrates that Ang II significantly (p<0.01) stimulates p-p38 phosphorylation by almost 1.363 fold increase when compared to the untreated RPV (n=6). Y-27632 reduced/inhibited this phosphorylation by almost 33%, which was statistically significant (p<0.05), (n=3→6). On the other hand, AG-1478 inhibited the Ang II-mediated p-p38 activation by almost 25% but this was not statistically significant (n=3→6). Of importance, the inhibitory effect of Y-27632 reversed the pp38 phosphorylation to almost its basal level seen in untreated RPVs.

In Figure 11 (C) Ang II was revealed to significantly (p<0.05) induce the phosphorylation of pAkt by a fold increase of almost 1.911 (N=6). This effect was significantly (<0.05) inhibited by Y-27632 (decreased by 60%) but not AG-1478 (decreased by 31%) (N=3 \rightarrow 6). See Figures 11A, 11B and 11C.



Figure 11. Identifying the downstream effectors of EGFR activation and the RhoA/ROCK pathway: *Involvement of p-Cofilin, p-p38 and p-Akt.*

RPVs were cultured in the presence/absence of Ang II (10 μ M) for 15 minutes, and pretreated (before adding Ang II) with the inhibitors of RhoA/ROCK pathway (Y-27632, 1 μ M) and EGFR (AG-1478,1 μ M) for 1 hour. **A.** p-Cofilin (n=4), **B.** p-p38 (n=3→6) and **C.** pAkt (n=3→6) phosphorylation was evaluated by Western blotting densitometric scans and normalized to the untreated RPVs. Data are expressed as means ± S.E.M. *, P<0.01,**, P<0.01 Vs. untreated RPVs, #, P<0.05 Vs. RPVs treated only with Ang II, ##, P<0.01 Vs. RPVs treated only with Ang II. Corresponding representative Western blots are shown under bars.

8. Ang II induces ERK1/2 phosphorylation and adiponectin attenuates this effect.

ERK ¹/₂ is a signaling protein that is well known for its involvement in a hypertrophic response. In this regard, we studied if Ang II induces ERK1/2 activation and whether adiponectin exhibits a protective role in inhibiting this response.

Isolated RPVs were cultured in the absence/presence of Ang II for 15 minutes and in the absence/presence of adiponectin for 2 hours. Figure 8 shows a highly significant (p<0.01), almost 0.9 fold increase in Ang II-induced ERK1/2 phosphorylation when compared to the untreated RPVs (n=4). RPVs cultured with adiponectin (without Ang II) showed a highly significant (p<0.01) reduction in the ERK1/2 activation (n=4) by approximately 83% when compared to the RPVs treated with Ang II only. This inhibitory effect was also significant to the untreated RPV. When cultured with Ang II, adiponectin significantly attenuated (<0.01) the Ang II-induced ERK1/2 activation by almost 62%. **See Figure 12.**



Figure 12. Adiponectin inhibits the Ang II-induced ERK1/2 activation. RPVs were cultured in the presence/absence of Ang II (10 μ M) for 15 minutes and Adiponectin (10 μ M) for 2h. p-ERK1/2 expression was evaluated by Western blotting densitometric scans and normalized to the untreated RPVs. Data are expressed as means ± S.E.M. (n=4). **, P<0.01 Vs. untreated RPVs. ##, P<0.01 Vs. RPVs treated only with Ang II. Corresponding representative Western blots are shown under bars.

9. Ang-II increases AdipoR1, AdipoR2 and Adiponectin mRNA expression.

Study 8 enabled us to study the effect of exogenous adiponectin on Ang II induced ERK1/2 activation. Now, we wanted to study the effect of Ang II on the vascular expression of adiponectin and its receptors: AdipoR1 and AdiporR2. Rat portal veins were isolated and cultured in the absence/presence of Ang II for 24 hours. Quantitative PCR (qPCR) analysis showed that Ang II increases **A.** AdipoR1 (n=8), **B.** AdipoR2 (n=7) and **C.** adiponectin (n=7) mRNA expression in VSMCs by approximately 1.9 (AdipoR1), 2.7 (AdipoR2) and 5.3 (adiponectin) folds. However, this increase did not appear to be statistically significant. **See Figures 13A, 13B and 13C.**





CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION & CONCLUSION

There is a bulk of evidence reporting that Ang II and leptin are majorly implicated in vascular hypertrophy and remodeling. Studies revealed that both Ang II and leptin mediate the hypertrophic effects of one another, in cardiomyocytes and VSMCs (Rajapurohitam, Javadov, Purdham, Kirshenbaum, & Karmazyn, 2006; Zeidan et al., 2005) **.** Moreover, Ang II was shown to stimulate the secretion of leptin from human adipocytes (Kim, Whelan, Claycombe, Reath, & Moustaid-Moussa, 2002) **.** Collectively, these studies indicate the existence of a cross talk or feedback mechanism between Ang II and leptin. We were able to demonstrate, for the first time, that Ang II induces leptin synthesis in VSMCs (**See Figures 5A, 5B and 5C).** We were also able to place in order, the different signaling transducers that link Ang II to leptin synthesis. Subsequently, this allowed us to gain a novel perspective on the Ang II-induced hypertrophy and vascular remodeling via increased leptin synthesis.

We explored whether what was found in adipocytes (Kim et al., 2002) also applies to VSMCs in culture via the utilization of an *ex vivo* RPV model. The RPV has been extensively used in research due to the abundance of myogenically active VSMCs in this vessel. Moreover, RPVs resemble the response of resistance vessels towards a pressure overload, spontaneous myogenic activity and agonist-mediated VSMC contractions (Sutter, 1990). Both, a longitudinal and an inner circular layer of VSMCs are present in the RPV. The longitudinal layer has been identified as the dominant layer, and previous studies on portal hypertension reported the occurrence of a hypertrophic response in this layer (Malmqvist & Arner, 1988). Hence, the RPV would constitute (or may be considered) an adequate model for exploring the crosstalk between angiotensin and leptin and the mechanisms involved, in the context of vascular hypertrophy. Following the finding that Ang II induces leptin synthesis in VSMCs, we investigated the molecular mechanisms underlying this effect.

We assessed the involvement of the RhoA/ROCK pathway in Ang II-induced leptin synthesis. The results showed that y-27632 (a RhoA/ROCK pathway inhibitor) significantly attenuated the Ang II-induced leptin synthesis and therefore revealed the important role of the RhoA/ROCK pathway in this response (See Figures 6A, 6B and 7).

Both Ang II and leptin were shown to activate the RhoA/ROCK pathway in the VSMCs, and evidence has shown that the RhoA/ROCK activation plays a critical role in mediating the hypertrophic response of Ang II and leptin (Yamakawa et al., 2000b; Zeidan et al., 2005). Studies have proposed that the activation of the RhoA/ROCK pathway leads to modifications in the actin dynamics, which promotes vascular remodeling and hypertrophy (will be discussed shortly) (Zeidan et al., 2007b) . However, the precise substrates of ROCK, and the mechanisms connecting the RhoA/ROCK pathway to the hypertrophic response are still not fully identified. In the present study, we identified that the RhoA/ROCK pathway in Ang II end leptin synthesis. Furthermore, if both Ang II and leptin (the hypertrophic proteins) activate the RhoA/ROCK pathway, and we found that Ang II leads to leptin synthesis via the RhoA/ROCK pathway, then the Ang II-induced RhoA/ROCK activation is a critical step in this loop and the inhibition of Ang II-induced RhoA/ROCK activation is anticipated to significantly attenuate both the Ang II and leptin-mediated hypertrophy.

We found that apocynin (a NOX inhibitor) significantly attenuated the Ang IIinduced leptin synthesis in VSMCs; therefore, Ang II-induced NOX activation (and hence ROS formation) is implicated in Ang II-mediated leptin synthesis in VSMCs (See Figure 7). Our results also showed that the RhoA/ROCK pathway and the intact cytoskeleton are activated upstream to the Ang II-induced ROS formation, since both Y-27632 (a RhoA/ROCK pathway inhibitor) and CD (actin depolymerization agent) attenuated the Ang II-induced ROS formation (See Figures 8A and 8B).

Ang II was reported to activate NOX and induce ROS formation in VSMCs (Alexander, 1995). ROS in turn activates different pro-inflammatory factors, proteinases and adhesion molecules that ultimately result in hypertrophy and vascular remodeling (Intengan et al., 1999; Kim & Iwao, 2000).

Moreover, we have obtained preliminary data, that Ang II reduces the G/F actin ratio in frozen sections of RPV tissues (See Figure 9), however this requires a higher sample size in order to be verifiable.

Once again ROCKs are the downstream effectors of RhoA. Upon their activation, they activate LIMK2 which in turn phosphorylates Cofilin (the actin binding protein), leading to the inactivation of its actin-depolymerization activity and ultimately resulting in more globular actin, G-actin and less filamentous, F-actin (Kaibuchi et al., 1999; Lawler, 1999). Depleted G-actin monomers result in insufficient inhibition of transcription factors that upregulate hypertrophic gene expression (Nelson et al., 2005; Zeidan, Javadov, & Karmazyn, 2006). Evidence demonstrated that the activation of the Rho system mediates the hypertrophic effect of leptin through a mechanism involving the actin dynamics discussed above (Zeidan et al., 2006). To our knowledge, there are insufficient studies on the effect of Ang II on the G/F actin ratio in VSMCs. Our

preliminary results show that Ang II reduces the G/F actin ratio, and because the activation of the RhoA/ROCK pathway decreases the G/F actin ratio, as expected, our results also showed that pretreatment with y-27632 increased this ratio in RPV tissues **(See Figure 9).**

As mentioned earlier, the phosphorylation of cofilin appeared to be a key factor in the RhoA/ROCK-induced attenuation of the G/F actin ratio. This was consistent with the results that we obtained in Figure 11A pretreatment with Y-37632 (the RhoA/ROCK pathway inhibitor) significantly inhibited the Ang II-induced cofilin phosphorylation, suggesting that p-Cofilin is the downstream effector of Ang II-induced RhoA/ROCK activation.

In addition to activation of the RhoA/ROCK pathway, EGFR stimulation largely contributes to the hypertrophic response of Ang II (Mehta & Griendling, 2007). Our results showed that EGFR is implicated in Ang II induced leptin synthesis where AG-1478 (an EGFR inhibitor) significantly attenuated the Ang II-induced leptin expression.

The inhibition was below the basal levels of leptin, this could imply that EGFR is partially activated in the untreated RPV or that AG-1478 is decreasing leptin levels independently of Ang II (See Figure 7). In this regard, a control group treated with the drug only (without Ang II) should be added in future attempts to assess the sole effect of AG-1478 on leptin synthesis, and the same applies to the other inhibitors used in the present study.

In addition, we demonstrated that pretreatment with AG-1478 (EGFR inhibitor) attenuated the Ang II-induced p-Cofilin (Figure 11A), p-P38 (Figure 11B) and p-Akt (Figure 11C) activation; however the inhibition was only significant with p-Cofilin.

Upon binding to AT1R, Ang II activates a group of protein kinases (in addition to EGFR) that mediate its hypertrophic effect. These kinases include p38 MAPK (Ushio-Fukai et al., 1998), and Akt/protein kinase B(Ushio-Fukai et al., 1999). Pretreatment with Y-27632 (RhoA/ROCK inhibitor) allowed us to identify that p-p38 and p-Akt are the downstream effectors of the Ang II-induced RhoA/ROCK activation (in addition to p-Cofilin mentioned earlier) (See Figures 11A, 11B and 11C). Whereas, pretreatment with AG-1478 (EGFR inhibitor) inhibited Ang II-induced p-cofilin, p-p38 and pAkt activation, however the inhibition was only significant with p-cofilin. This implies that p-cofilin is confirmed to be the downstream effector of EGFR, however, further studies (higher N) are required to validate that p-Akt and p-p38 are also the downstream effectors of EGFR.

Furthermore, we tested for the effect of Ang II on nuclear GATA-4 translocation and the contributing role of the RhoA/ROCK pathway and intact cytoskeleton in this process (Y. Liu et al., 2004). As Figure 10 shows, Ang II clearly induced GATA-4 nuclear translocation, which is known to regulate the transcription of genes implicated in cardiovascular hypertrophy (Perrino & Rockman, 2006).

Evidence has shown that GATA-4 is a transcription factor implicated in cardiovascular hypertrophy (Molkentin, 2000). Recent studies also showed that the RhoA/ROCK pathway is implicated in serotonin-mediated mitogenesis in the SMCs of the pulmonary artery. To our knowledge, there are no studies that clarify the role of GATA-4 in VSMCs and whether Ang II activates GATA-4 nuclear translocation in VSMCs. Our results showed that exogenous adiponectin attenuated the Ang II-induced ERK1/2 activation and thus inhibited the ERK1/2-induced hypertrophic response of Ang II in VSMCs (See Figure 12).

In addition to activating EGFR, p-p38 and pAkt, Ang II was shown to activate the MAPK: ERK1/2 (Eguchi et al., 2001). Since ERK1/2 is regarded as a critical mediator of cell growth and vascular hypertrophy (Isenovic, Trpkovic, Zakula, Koricanac, & Marche, 2008), it would be of benefit, to identify what inhibits the Ang II-induced ERK ¹/₂ activation. We found that adiponectin protects against Ang IIinduced hypertrophy. On the other hand, the 24-hour treatment with Ang II was shown to increase the mRNA expression of the adiponectin receptors (AdipoR1 and AdipoR2) (See Figure 13) and unexpectedly, increased the mRNA expression of adiponectin itself. The upregulation of AT2Rs after 24 hours may account for that (Guo, Li, Han, Zhou, & Wang, 2011), therefore future studies on the AT2R gene expression in the VSMCs are required.

Conclusion:

On the basis of the previous findings we can conclude and submit that Ang II induces leptin synthesis in the VSMCs. This takes place through RhoA/ROCK, EGFR and NOX dependent mechanisms. Moreover p-Cofilin was verified as the downstream effector of the RhoA/ROCK pathway and EGFR. Also, p-p38 and p-Akt were identified as the downstream effectors of the RhoA/ROCK pathway, however further studies are needed to consolidate if they are the downstream effectors of EGFR. Ang II is an activator of NOX and hence induces ROS formation in the VSMCs. Our results showed

that the RhoA/ROCK inhibitor is not only upstream to Ang II-induced leptin synthesis, but to Ang II-induced ROS formation as well. Furthermore, the Ang II-induced maintenance of the intact actin cytoskeleton (more F actin and less G actin) mediates Ang II-ROS formation. The Ang II-induced EGFR and RhoA/ROCK activation leads to phosphorylation of p-cofilin, this will in turn promote the formation of a lower G/F actin ratio and hence stimulates ROS formation and facilitates a hypertrophic effect in the VSMCs. Moreover, we revealed the role of the transcription factor, GATA-4 in mediating the hypertrophic response of Ang II via nuclear translocation in the VSMCs. Interestingly, we showed that adiponectin inhibits the Ang II-induced ERK1/2 activation and hence protects against the ERK1/2 mediated hypertrophy.

Again, we demonstrated that Ang II induces leptin synthesis and we also proposed the involvement and the cross talk between several pathways in Ang IIinduced leptin synthesis and the Ang II-induced hypertrophy (See Figure 14). This advances our understanding of Ang II-induced hypertrophy and gives us a novel insight on Ang II-induced hypertrophy via leptin synthesis. Moreover, we can pinpoint the source of increased leptin synthesis seen in obese normotensive, obese hypertensive and nonobese hypertensive states. Finally, if the present study was verified in vivo and later in clinical trials, this may provide a novel pharmacological mode of action for ACE and ARBs, as not only Ang II inhibitors but potential leptin inhibitors in all states of high leptin levels: obese hypertensive, nonobese hypertensive patients and especially normotensive obese patients (which are usually not administered ACE and ARBs).

A higher sample size, in vivo analysis, further analysis of the protective role of adiponectin in Ang II-induced hypertrophy, and the identification of additional

molecular mechanisms (in more depth), mediating the Ang II-induced leptin synthesis and the Ang II-induced hypertrophy are required for a further and more advanced characterization of the molecular mechanisms underlying Ang II-induced hypertrophy.



Figure 14. Conclusion. On the basis of the obtained results, we were able to show that Ang II induces leptin synthesis in VSMCs, and as shown in the diagram, we placed in order, the different molecular mechanisms underlying this process.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Agata, J., Masuda, A., Takada, M., Higashiura, K., Murakami, H., Miyazaki, Y., & Shimamoto, K. (1997). High plasma immunoreactive leptin level in essential hypertension. *American Journal of Hypertension, 10*(10 Pt 1), 1171-1174. doi:S0895-7061(97)00310-5 [pii]
- Aizawa, T., Ishizaka, N., Taguchi, J., Nagai, R., Mori, I., Tang, S. S., . . . Ohno, M. (2000). Heme oxygenase-1 is upregulated in the kidney of angiotensin II-induced hypertensive rats : Possible role in renoprotection. *Hypertension*, 35(3), 800-806.
- Alexander, R. W. (1995). Theodore cooper memorial lecture. hypertension and the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. oxidative stress and the mediation of arterial inflammatory response: A new perspective. *Hypertension*, *25*(2), 155-161.
- Al-Hazimi, A. M., & Syiamic, A. Y. (2004). Relationship between plasma angiotensinII, leptin and arterial blood pressure. *Saudi Medical Journal*, 25(9), 1193-1198. doi:20030560' [pii]
- Allen, A. M., Zhuo, J., & Mendelsohn, F. A. (2000). Localization and function of angiotensin AT1 receptors. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 13(1 Pt 2), 31S-38S. doi:S0895706199002496 [pii]
- Allen, R. T., Krueger, K. D., Dhume, A., & Agrawal, D. K. (2005). Sustained akt/PKB activation and transient attenuation of c-jun N-terminal kinase in the inhibition of apoptosis by IGF-1 in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Apoptosis : An International Journal on Programmed Cell Death*, *10*(3), 525-535. doi:10.1007/s10495-005-1882-3 [doi]
- Arita, Y., Kihara, S., Ouchi, N., Takahashi, M., Maeda, K., Miyagawa, J., . . . Matsuzawa, Y. (2012). Paradoxical decrease of an adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in obesity. 1999. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 425(3), 560-564. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.08.024 [doi]
- Atlas, S. A. (2007). The renin-angiotensin aldosterone system: Pathophysiological role and pharmacologic inhibition. *Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy : JMCP, 13*(8 Suppl B), 9-20. doi:2007(13)8: 9-20 [pii]
- Baden, M. Y., Yamada, Y., Takahi, Y., Obata, Y., Saisho, K., Tamba, S., . . . Matsuzawa, Y. (2013). Association of adiponectin with blood pressure in healthy people. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 78(2), 226-231. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2012.04370.x [doi]

- Baines, R. J., Brown, C., Ng, L. L., & Boarder, M. R. (1996). Angiotensin II-stimulated phospholipase C responses of two vascular smooth muscle-derived cell lines. role of cyclic GMP. *Hypertension*, *28*(5), 772-778.
- Beach, R. E. (1992). Renal nerve-mediated proximal tubule solute reabsorption contributes to hypertension in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Clinical and Experimental Hypertension.Part A, Theory and Practice, 14*(4), 685-697.
- Beltowski, J., Jamroz-Wisniewska, A., Borkowska, E., & Wojcicka, G. (2004). Upregulation of renal na+, K+-ATPase: The possible novel mechanism of leptininduced hypertension. *Polish Journal of Pharmacology*, *56*(2), 213-222.
- Beltowski, J., W jcicka, G., Gorny, D., & Marciniak, A. (2002). Human leptin administered intraperitoneally stimulates natriuresis and decreases renal medullary na+, K+-ATPase activity in the rat -- impaired effect in dietaryinduced obesity. *Medical Science Monitor : International Medical Journal of Experimental and Clinical Research, 8*(6), BR221-9. doi:2228 [pii]
- Billah, M. M. (1993). Phospholipase D and cell signaling. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, *5*(1), 114-123.
- Blobel, C. P. (2005). ADAMs: Key components in EGFR signalling and development. *Nature Reviews.Molecular Cell Biology*, 6(1), 32-43. doi:nrm1548 [pii]
- Bollag, W. B. (2014). Regulation of aldosterone synthesis and secretion. *Comprehensive Physiology*, *4*(3), 1017-1055. doi:10.1002/cphy.c130037 [doi]
- Bonventre, J. V. (1992). Phospholipase A2 and signal transduction. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN, 3*(2), 128-150.
- Bornfeldt, K. E. (1996). Intracellular signaling in arterial smooth muscle migration versus proliferation. *Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine*, 6(5), 143-151. doi:10.1016/1050-1738(96)00038-2 [doi]
- Bouloumie, A., Marumo, T., Lafontan, M., & Busse, R. (1999). Leptin induces oxidative stress in human endothelial cells. *FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, *13*(10), 1231-1238.
- Brook, R. D., & Julius, S. (2000). Autonomic imbalance, hypertension, and cardiovascular risk. *American Journal of Hypertension, 13*(6 Pt 2), 112S-122S. doi:S0895706100002284 [pii]
- Brown, N. J. (2008). Aldosterone and vascular inflammation. *Hypertension*, *51*(2), 161-167. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.095489 [doi]
- Bucher, B., Travo, P., Laurent, P., & Stoclet, J. C. (1982). Vascular smooth muscle cell hypertrophy during maturation in rat thoracic aorta. volumetric and morphometric studies. *Cell Biology International Reports*, *6*(9), 883-892.
- Campfield, L. A., Smith, F. J., & Burn, P. (1996). The OB protein (leptin) pathway--a link between adipose tissue mass and central neural networks. *Hormone and Metabolic Research = Hormon- Und Stoffwechselforschung = Hormones Et Metabolisme, 28*(12), 619-632. doi:10.1055/s-2007-979867 [doi]
- Carey, R. M., & Siragy, H. M. (2003). Newly recognized components of the reninangiotensin system: Potential roles in cardiovascular and renal regulation. *Endocrine Reviews, 24*(3), 261-271. doi:10.1210/er.2003-0001 [doi]
- Chappell, M. C., Pirro, N. T., Sykes, A., & Ferrario, C. M. (1998). Metabolism of angiotensin-(1-7) by angiotensin-converting enzyme. *Hypertension*, *31*(1 Pt 2), 362-367.
- Ciccone, M., Vettor, R., Pannacciulli, N., Minenna, A., Bellacicco, M., Rizzon, P., ... De Pergola, G. (2001). Plasma leptin is independently associated with the intimamedia thickness of the common carotid artery. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders : Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity, 25*(6), 805-810. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0801623 [doi]
- Considine, R. V., Sinha, M. K., Heiman, M. L., Kriauciunas, A., Stephens, T. W., Nyce, M. R., . . . Bauer, T. L. (1996). Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 334(5), 292-295. doi:10.1056/NEJM199602013340503 [doi]
- Correia, M. L., Haynes, W. G., Rahmouni, K., Morgan, D. A., Sivitz, W. I., & Mark, A. L. (2002). The concept of selective leptin resistance: Evidence from agouti yellow obese mice. *Diabetes*, *51*(2), 439-442.
- Cortes, S. F., Andriantsitohaina, R., & Stoclet, J. C. (1996). Alterations of cyclooxygenase products and NO in responses to angiotensin II of resistance arteries from the spontaneously hypertensive rat. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *119*(8), 1635-1641.
- Corvol, P., Pinet, F., Plouin, P. F., Bruneval, P., & Menard, J. (1994). Renin-secreting tumors. *Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America*, *23*(2), 255-270.
- Crackower, M. A., Sarao, R., Oudit, G. Y., Yagil, C., Kozieradzki, I., Scanga, S. E., ... Penninger, J. M. (2002). Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 is an essential regulator of heart function. *Nature*, *417*(6891), 822-828. doi:10.1038/nature00786 [doi]

- Cui, T., Nakagami, H., Iwai, M., Takeda, Y., Shiuchi, T., Daviet, L., ... Horiuchi, M. (2001). Pivotal role of tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 in AT2 receptor-mediated apoptosis in rat fetal vascular smooth muscle cell. *Cardiovascular Research*, 49(4), 863-871. doi:S0008636300002996 [pii]
- Damron, D. S., Nadim, H. S., Hong, S. J., Darvish, A., & Murray, P. A. (1998). Intracellular translocation of PKC isoforms in canine pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells by ANG II. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 274(2 Pt 1), L278-88.
- Dasgupta, C., & Zhang, L. (2011). Angiotensin II receptors and drug discovery in cardiovascular disease. *Drug Discovery Today*, *16*(1-2), 22-34. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2010.11.016 [doi]
- Dhalla, N. S., Xu, Y. J., Sheu, S. S., Tappia, P. S., & Panagia, V. (1997). Phosphatidic acid: A potential signal transducer for cardiac hypertrophy. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, *29*(11), 2865-2871. doi:S0022-2828(97)90522-8 [pii]
- Doggrell, S. A., & Wanstall, J. C. (2005). Cardiac chymase: Pathophysiological role and therapeutic potential of chymase inhibitors. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, *83*(2), 123-130. doi:y04-136 [pii]
- Donoghue, M., Hsieh, F., Baronas, E., Godbout, K., Gosselin, M., Stagliano, N., ... Acton, S. (2000). A novel angiotensin-converting enzyme-related carboxypeptidase (ACE2) converts angiotensin I to angiotensin 1-9. *Circulation Research*, 87(5), E1-9.
- Dostal, D. E., Hunt, R. A., Kule, C. E., Bhat, G. J., Karoor, V., McWhinney, C. D., & Baker, K. M. (1997a). Molecular mechanisms of angiotensin II in modulating cardiac function: Intracardiac effects and signal transduction pathways. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 29(11), 2893-2902. doi:S0022-2828(97)90524-1 [pii]
- Dostal, D. E., Hunt, R. A., Kule, C. E., Bhat, G. J., Karoor, V., McWhinney, C. D., & Baker, K. M. (1997b). Molecular mechanisms of angiotensin II in modulating cardiac function: Intracardiac effects and signal transduction pathways. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 29(11), 2893-2902. doi:S0022-2828(97)90524-1 [pii]
- Dostal, D. E., Murahashi, T., & Peach, M. J. (1990). Regulation of cytosolic calcium by angiotensins in vascular smooth muscle. *Hypertension*, *15*(6 Pt 2), 815-822.
- Dzau, V. J. (1989). Multiple pathways of angiotensin production in the blood vessel wall: Evidence, possibilities and hypotheses. *Journal of Hypertension, 7*(12), 933-936.

- Dzau, V. J. (2001). Theodore cooper lecture: Tissue angiotensin and pathobiology of vascular disease: A unifying hypothesis. *Hypertension*, *37*(4), 1047-1052.
- Echtenkamp, S. F., & Dandridge, P. F. (1989). Influence of renal sympathetic nerve stimulation on renal function in the primate. *The American Journal of Physiology, 257*(2 Pt 2), F204-9.
- Eguchi, S., Dempsey, P. J., Frank, G. D., Motley, E. D., & Inagami, T. (2001). Activation of MAPKs by angiotensin II in vascular smooth muscle cells. metalloproteasedependent EGF receptor activation is required for activation of ERK and p38 MAPK but not for JNK. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *276*(11), 7957-7962. doi:10.1074/jbc.M008570200 [doi]
- Eguchi, S., Iwasaki, H., Inagami, T., Numaguchi, K., Yamakawa, T., Motley, E. D., ... Hirata, Y. (1999). Involvement of PYK2 in angiotensin II signaling of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Hypertension*, *33*(1 Pt 2), 201-206.
- Elmquist, J. K., Bjorbaek, C., Ahima, R. S., Flier, J. S., & Saper, C. B. (1998). Distributions of leptin receptor mRNA isoforms in the rat brain. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 395(4), 535-547. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19980615)395:4<535::AID-CNE9>3.0.CO;2-2 [pii]
- Endemann, D. H., Pu, Q., De Ciuceis, C., Savoia, C., Virdis, A., Neves, M. F., . . . Schiffrin, E. L. (2004). Persistent remodeling of resistance arteries in type 2 diabetic patients on antihypertensive treatment. *Hypertension*, 43(2), 399-404. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000112029.03691.e7 [doi]
- Ennis, I. L., Alvarez, B. V., Camilion de Hurtado, M. C., & Cingolani, H. E. (1998). Enalapril induces regression of cardiac hypertrophy and normalization of pHi regulatory mechanisms. *Hypertension*, *31*(4), 961-967.
- Erpel, T., & Courtneidge, S. A. (1995). Src family protein tyrosine kinases and cellular signal transduction pathways. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 7(2), 176-182. doi:0955-0674(95)80025-5 [pii]
- Esteban, V., Heringer-Walther, S., Sterner-Kock, A., de Bruin, R., van den Engel, S., Wang, Y., . . . Walther, T. (2009). Angiotensin-(1-7) and the g protein-coupled receptor MAS are key players in renal inflammation. *PloS One, 4*(4), e5406. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005406 [doi]
- Esther, C. R., Marino, E. M., Howard, T. E., Machaud, A., Corvol, P., Capecchi, M. R., & Bernstein, K. E. (1997). The critical role of tissue angiotensin-converting enzyme as revealed by gene targeting in mice. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *99*(10), 2375-2385. doi:10.1172/JCI119419 [doi]
- Ewart, M. A., Kohlhaas, C. F., & Salt, I. P. (2008). Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor alpha-stimulated monocyte adhesion to human aortic endothelial cells by

AMP-activated protein kinase. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 28*(12), 2255-2257. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.175919 [doi]

- Feener, E. P., Northrup, J. M., Aiello, L. P., & King, G. L. (1995). Angiotensin II induces plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 and -2 expression in vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 95(3), 1353-1362. doi:10.1172/JCI117786 [doi]
- Ferrario, C. M. (2006). Role of angiotensin II in cardiovascular disease therapeutic implications of more than a century of research. *Journal of the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System : JRAAS, 7*(1), 3-14. doi:2405 [pii]
- Fogari, R., Derosa, G., Zoppi, A., Rinaldi, A., Lazzari, P., Fogari, E., ... Preti, P. (2005). Comparison of the effects of valsartan and felodipine on plasma leptin and insulin sensitivity in hypertensive obese patients. *Hypertension Research : Official Journal of the Japanese Society of Hypertension, 28*(3), 209-214. doi:10.1291/hypres.28.209 [doi]
- Frederich, R. C., Hamann, A., Anderson, S., Lollmann, B., Lowell, B. B., & Flier, J. S. (1995). Leptin levels reflect body lipid content in mice: Evidence for dietinduced resistance to leptin action. *Nature Medicine*, *1*(12), 1311-1314.
- Freeman, E. J., Chisolm, G. M., & Tallant, E. A. (1995). Role of calcium and protein kinase C in the activation of phospholipase D by angiotensin II in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 319(1), 84-92. doi:S0003-9861(85)71269-6 [pii]
- Gallagher, P. E., Chappell, M. C., Ferrario, C. M., & Tallant, E. A. (2006). Distinct roles for ANG II and ANG-(1-7) in the regulation of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 in rat astrocytes. *American Journal of Physiology.Cell Physiology*, 290(2), C420-6. doi:00409.2004 [pii]
- Gil-Ortega, M., Martín-Ramos, M., Arribas, S. M., González, M. C., Aránguez, I., Ruiz-Gayo, M., . . . Fernández-Alfonso, M. S. (2015). Arterial stiffness is associated with adipokine dysregulation in non-hypertensive obese mice. *Vascular Pharmacology*,
- Golan, E., Tal, B., Dror, Y., Korzets, Z., Vered, Y., Weiss, E., & Bernheim, J. (2002).
 Reduction in resting metabolic rate and ratio of plasma leptin to urinary nitric oxide: Influence on obesity-related hypertension. *The Israel Medical Association Journal : IMAJ*, 4(6), 426-430.
- Goldblatt, H., Lynch, J., Hanzal, R. F., & Summerville, W. W. (1934a). Studies on experimental hypertension : I. the production of persistent elevation of systolic blood pressure by means of renal ischemia. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *59*(3), 347-379.

- Goldblatt, H., Lynch, J., Hanzal, R. F., & Summerville, W. W. (1934b). Studies on experimental hypertension : I. the production of persistent elevation of systolic blood pressure by means of renal ischemia. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *59*(3), 347-379.
- Goldstein, B. J., Scalia, R. G., & Ma, X. L. (2009). Protective vascular and myocardial effects of adiponectin. *Nature Clinical Practice.Cardiovascular Medicine*, 6(1), 27-35. doi:10.1038/ncpcardio1398 [doi]
- Gomez-Cambronero, J., & Keire, P. (1998). Phospholipase D: A novel major player in signal transduction. *Cellular Signalling*, *10*(6), 387-397. doi:S0898-6568(97)00197-6 [pii]
- Gordon, D., Reidy, M. A., Benditt, E. P., & Schwartz, S. M. (1990). Cell proliferation in human coronary arteries. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 87(12), 4600-4604.
- Goutsouliak, V., & Rabkin, S. W. (1997). Angiotensin II-induced inositol phosphate generation is mediated through tyrosine kinase pathways in cardiomyocytes. *Cellular Signalling*, *9*(7), 505-512. doi:S0898-6568(97)00008-9 [pii]
- Griendling, K. K., Ushio-Fukai, M., Lassegue, B., & Alexander, R. W. (1997). Angiotensin II signaling in vascular smooth muscle. new concepts. *Hypertension, 29*(1 Pt 2), 366-373.
- Grinstein, S., Rotin, D., & Mason, M. J. (1989). Na+/H+ exchange and growth factorinduced cytosolic pH changes. role in cellular proliferation. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, *988*(1), 73-97. doi:0304-4157(89)90004-X [pii]
- Guilluy, C., Bregeon, J., Toumaniantz, G., Rolli-Derkinderen, M., Retailleau, K., Loufrani, L., . . . Loirand, G. (2010). The rho exchange factor Arhgef1 mediates the effects of angiotensin II on vascular tone and blood pressure. *Nature Medicine*, 16(2), 183-190. doi:10.1038/nm.2079 [doi]
- Guo, B., Li, Y., Han, R., Zhou, H., & Wang, M. (2011). Angiotensin II upregulation of cardiomyocyte adiponectin production is nitric oxide/cyclic GMP dependent. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, 341(5), 350-355. doi:10.1097/MAJ.0b013e318203abd5 [doi]
- Hales, S. (2000). Foundations of anesthesiology. an account of some hydraulic and hydrostatical experiments made on the blood and blood-vessels of animals.
 1710 [classical article. *Journal of Clinical Monitoring and Computing*, 16(1), 45-47.
- Han, D. C., Isono, M., Chen, S., Casaretto, A., Hong, S. W., Wolf, G., & Ziyadeh, F. N. (2001). Leptin stimulates type I collagen production in db/db mesangial cells:

Glucose uptake and TGF-beta type II receptor expression. *Kidney International, 59*(4), 1315-1323. doi:kid624 [pii]

- Hefti, M. A., Harder, B. A., Eppenberger, H. M., & Schaub, M. C. (1997). Signaling pathways in cardiac myocyte hypertrophy. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, *29*(11), 2873-2892. doi:S0022-2828(97)90523-X [pii]
- Hernandez Prada, J. A., Ferreira, A. J., Katovich, M. J., Shenoy, V., Qi, Y., Santos, R. A., .
 . Raizada, M. K. (2008). Structure-based identification of small-molecule angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 activators as novel antihypertensive agents. *Hypertension*, *51*(5), 1312-1317. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.108944 [doi]
- Herzig, T. C., Jobe, S. M., Aoki, H., Molkentin, J. D., Cowley, A. W., Jr, Izumo, S., & Markham, B. E. (1997). Angiotensin II type1a receptor gene expression in the heart: AP-1 and GATA-4 participate in the response to pressure overload. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(14), 7543-7548.
- Hileman, S. M., Tornoe, J., Flier, J. S., & Bjorbaek, C. (2000). Transcellular transport of leptin by the short leptin receptor isoform ObRa in madin-darby canine kidney cells. *Endocrinology*, 141(6), 1955-1961. doi:10.1210/endo.141.6.7450 [doi]
- Hilgers, R. H., & Webb, R. C. (2005). Molecular aspects of arterial smooth muscle contraction: Focus on rho. *Experimental Biology and Medicine (Maywood, N.J.)*, 230(11), 829-835. doi:230/11/829 [pii]
- Hollenberg, N. K., Fisher, N. D., & Price, D. A. (1998). Pathways for angiotensin II generation in intact human tissue: Evidence from comparative pharmacological interruption of the renin system. *Hypertension*, 32(3), 387-392.
- Howe, A., Aplin, A. E., Alahari, S. K., & Juliano, R. L. (1998). Integrin signaling and cell growth control. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, *10*(2), 220-231.
- Huang, L., & Li, C. (2000). Leptin: A multifunctional hormone. *Cell Research*, *10*(2), 81-92. doi:10.1038/sj.cr.7290038 [doi]
- Intengan, H. D., Deng, L. Y., Li, J. S., & Schiffrin, E. L. (1999). Mechanics and composition of human subcutaneous resistance arteries in essential hypertension. *Hypertension*, *33*(1 Pt 2), 569-574.
- Isenovic, E. R., Trpkovic, A., Zakula, Z., Koricanac, G., & Marche, P. (2008). Role of ERK1/2 activation in thrombin-induced vascular smooth muscle cell hypertrophy. *Current Hypertension Reviews*, 4(3), 190-196.

- Ishida, T., Ishida, M., Suero, J., Takahashi, M., & Berk, B. C. (1999). Agoniststimulated cytoskeletal reorganization and signal transduction at focal adhesions in vascular smooth muscle cells require c-src. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 103(6), 789-797. doi:10.1172/JCI4189 [doi]
- Ishizaka, N., Alexander, R. W., Laursen, J. B., Kai, H., Fukui, T., Oppermann, M., ... Griendling, K. K. (1997). G protein-coupled receptor kinase 5 in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells and rat aorta. regulation by angiotensin II and hypertension. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *272*(51), 32482-32488.
- Itoh, K., Imai, K., Masuda, T., Abe, S., Tanaka, M., Koga, R., ... Nakamura, M. (2002). Relationship between changes in serum leptin levels and blood pressure after weight loss. *Hypertension Research : Official Journal of the Japanese Society of Hypertension, 25*(6), 881-886.
- Iwai, N., & Inagami, T. (1992). Identification of two subtypes in the rat type I angiotensin II receptor. *FEBS Letters, 298*(2), 257-260.
- Iyer, S. N., Ferrario, C. M., & Chappell, M. C. (1998). Angiotensin-(1-7) contributes to the antihypertensive effects of blockade of the renin-angiotensin system. *Hypertension*, *31*(1 Pt 2), 356-361.
- Jackson, E. K., & Li, P. (1997). Human leptin has natriuretic activity in the rat. *The American Journal of Physiology, 272*(3 Pt 2), F333-8.
- Jhund, P. S., & McMurray, J. J. (2008). Heart failure after acute myocardial infarction: A lost battle in the war on heart failure? *Circulation, 118*(20), 2019-2021. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.813493 [doi]
- Kagiyama, S., Eguchi, S., Frank, G. D., Inagami, T., Zhang, Y. C., & Phillips, M. I. (2002). Angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy and hypertension are attenuated by epidermal growth factor receptor antisense. *Circulation*, 106(8), 909-912.
- Kaibuchi, K., Kuroda, S., & Amano, M. (1999). Regulation of the cytoskeleton and cell adhesion by the rho family GTPases in mammalian cells. *Annual Review of Biochemistry, 68,* 459-486. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.68.1.459 [doi]
- Kannel, W. B., Brand, N., Skinner, J. J.,Jr, Dawber, T. R., & McNamara, P. M. (1967). The relation of adiposity to blood pressure and development of hypertension. the framingham study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *67*(1), 48-59.
- Kassab, S., Kato, T., Wilkins, F. C., Chen, R., Hall, J. E., & Granger, J. P. (1995). Renal denervation attenuates the sodium retention and hypertension associated with obesity. *Hypertension*, *25*(4 Pt 2), 893-897.

- Kato, H., Fukami, K., Shibasaki, F., Homma, Y., & Takenawa, T. (1992). Enhancement of phospholipase C delta 1 activity in the aortas of spontaneously hypertensive rats. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *267*(10), 6483-6487.
- Katoh, Y., & Periasamy, M. (1996). Growth and differentiation of smooth muscle cells during vascular development. *Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine*, *6*(3), 100-106. doi:10.1016/1050-1738(96)00014-X [doi]
- Kaunas, R., Nguyen, P., Usami, S., & Chien, S. (2005). Cooperative effects of rho and mechanical stretch on stress fiber organization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(44), 15895-15900. doi:0506041102 [pii]
- Kim, S., & Iwao, H. (2000). Molecular and cellular mechanisms of angiotensin IImediated cardiovascular and renal diseases. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 52(1), 11-34.
- Kim, S., Whelan, J., Claycombe, K., Reath, D. B., & Moustaid-Moussa, N. (2002). Angiotensin II increases leptin secretion by 3T3-L1 and human adipocytes via a prostaglandin-independent mechanism. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 132(6), 1135-1140.
- Kirabo, A., Kearns, P. N., Jarajapu, Y. P., Sasser, J. M., Oh, S. P., Grant, M. B., ... Sayeski, P. P. (2011). Vascular smooth muscle Jak2 mediates angiotensin IIinduced hypertension via increased levels of reactive oxygen species. *Cardiovascular Research*, 91(1), 171-179. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvr059 [doi]
- Kirchheim, H., Ehmke, H., & Persson, P. (1989). Sympathetic modulation of renal hemodynamics, renin release and sodium excretion. *Klinische Wochenschrift*, *67*(17), 858-864.
- Kunz, I., Schorr, U., Klaus, S., & Sharma, A. M. (2000). Resting metabolic rate and substrate use in obesity hypertension. *Hypertension*, *36*(1), 26-32.
- Lammert, A., Kiess, W., Bottner, A., Glasow, A., & Kratzsch, J. (2001). Soluble leptin receptor represents the main leptin binding activity in human blood. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 283*(4), 982-988. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2001.4885 [doi]
- Laragh, J. (2001). Laragh's lessons in pathophysiology and clinical pearls for treating hypertension. *American Journal of Hypertension*, *14*(9 Pt 1), 837-854. doi:S0895-7061(01)02222-1 [pii]
- Laurent, S., Boutouyrie, P., Asmar, R., Gautier, I., Laloux, B., Guize, L., ... Benetos, A. (2001). Aortic stiffness is an independent predictor of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in hypertensive patients. *Hypertension*, 37(5), 1236-1241.

- Laurent, S., Boutouyrie, P., & Lacolley, P. (2005). Structural and genetic bases of arterial stiffness. *Hypertension*, *45*(6), 1050-1055. doi:01.HYP.0000164580.39991.3d [pii]
- Laursen, J. B., Rajagopalan, S., Galis, Z., Tarpey, M., Freeman, B. A., & Harrison, D. G. (1997). Role of superoxide in angiotensin II-induced but not catecholamineinduced hypertension. *Circulation*, 95(3), 588-593.
- Lawler, S. (1999). Regulation of actin dynamics: The LIM kinase connection. *Current Biology : CB, 9*(21), R800-2. doi:S0960-9822(99)80493-X [pii]
- Leduc, I., & Meloche, S. (1995). Angiotensin II stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of the focal adhesion-associated protein paxillin in aortic smooth muscle cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 270*(9), 4401-4404.
- Lee, G. H., Proenca, R., Montez, J. M., Carroll, K. M., Darvishzadeh, J. G., Lee, J. I., & Friedman, J. M. (1996). Abnormal splicing of the leptin receptor in diabetic mice. *Nature*, *379*(6566), 632-635. doi:10.1038/379632a0 [doi]
- Lee, J. H., Reed, D. R., & Price, R. A. (2001). Leptin resistance is associated with extreme obesity and aggregates in families. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders : Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*, 25(10), 1471-1473. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0801736 [doi]
- Li, J. S., Touyz, R. M., & Schiffrin, E. L. (1998). Effects of AT1 and AT2 angiotensin receptor antagonists in angiotensin II-infused rats. *Hypertension*, *31*(1 Pt 2), 487-492.
- Li, M., Liu, K., Michalicek, J., Angus, J. A., Hunt, J. E., Dell'Italia, L. J., . . . Husain, A. (2004). Involvement of chymase-mediated angiotensin II generation in blood pressure regulation. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *114*(1), 112-120. doi:10.1172/JCI20805 [doi]
- Li, Y. C. (2007). Inhibition of renin: An updated review of the development of renin inhibitors. *Current Opinion in Investigational Drugs (London, England : 2000),* 8(9), 750-757.
- Liao, D. F., Duff, J. L., Daum, G., Pelech, S. L., & Berk, B. C. (1996). Angiotensin II stimulates MAP kinase kinase kinase activity in vascular smooth muscle cells, role of raf. *Circulation Research*, *79*(5), 1007-1014.
- Liu, R., Leslie, K. L., & Martin, K. A. (2015). Epigenetic regulation of smooth muscle cell plasticity. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, *1849*(4), 448-453. doi:S1874-9399(14)00156-4 [pii]

- Liu, Y., & Min, W. (2002). Thioredoxin promotes ASK1 ubiquitination and degradation to inhibit ASK1-mediated apoptosis in a redox activity-independent manner. *Circulation Research*, *90*(12), 1259-1266.
- Liu, Y., Suzuki, Y. J., Day, R. M., & Fanburg, B. L. (2004). Rho kinase-induced nuclear translocation of ERK1/ERK2 in smooth muscle cell mitogenesis caused by serotonin. *Circulation Research*, 95(6), 579-586. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000141428.53262.a4 [doi]
- Loffreda, S., Yang, S. Q., Lin, H. Z., Karp, C. L., Brengman, M. L., Wang, D. J., . . . Diehl, A. M. (1998). Leptin regulates proinflammatory immune responses. *FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 12(1), 57-65.
- Lucchesi, P. A., Bell, J. M., Willis, L. S., Byron, K. L., Corson, M. A., & Berk, B. C. (1996). Ca(2+)-dependent mitogen-activated protein kinase activation in spontaneously hypertensive rat vascular smooth muscle defines a hypertensive signal transduction phenotype. *Circulation Research*, 78(6), 962-970.
- Madamanchi, N. R., Li, S., Patterson, C., & Runge, M. S. (2001). Reactive oxygen species regulate heat-shock protein 70 via the JAK/STAT pathway. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 21*(3), 321-326.
- Madani, S., De Girolamo, S., Munoz, D. M., Li, R. K., & Sweeney, G. (2006). Direct effects of leptin on size and extracellular matrix components of human pediatric ventricular myocytes. *Cardiovascular Research*, 69(3), 716-725. doi:S0008-6363(05)00535-3 [pii]
- Maffei, M., Halaas, J., Ravussin, E., Pratley, R. E., Lee, G. H., Zhang, Y., . . . Ranganathan, S. (1995). Leptin levels in human and rodent: Measurement of plasma leptin and ob RNA in obese and weight-reduced subjects. *Nature Medicine*, 1(11), 1155-1161.
- Malmqvist, U., & Arner, A. (1988). Contractile properties during development of hypertrophy of the smooth muscle in the rat portal vein. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, *133*(1), 49-61.
- Mark, A. L., Correia, M., Morgan, D. A., Shaffer, R. A., & Haynes, W. G. (1999). Stateof-the-art-lecture: Obesity-induced hypertension: New concepts from the emerging biology of obesity. *Hypertension*, *33*(1 Pt 2), 537-541.
- Marra, F., Navari, N., Vivoli, E., Galastri, S., & Provenzano, A. (2011). Modulation of liver fibrosis by adipokines. *Digestive Diseases (Basel, Switzerland), 29*(4), 371-376. doi:10.1159/000329799 [doi]

- Marrero, M. B., Schieffer, B., Li, B., Sun, J., Harp, J. B., & Ling, B. N. (1997). Role of janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription and mitogenactivated protein kinase cascades in angiotensin II- and platelet-derived growth factor-induced vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *272*(39), 24684-24690.
- Marrero, M. B., Schieffer, B., Paxton, W. G., Heerdt, L., Berk, B. C., Delafontaine, P., & Bernstein, K. E. (1995). Direct stimulation of jak/STAT pathway by the angiotensin II AT1 receptor. *Nature, 375*(6528), 247-250. doi:10.1038/375247a0 [doi]
- Martinez-Martinez, E., Miana, M., Jurado-Lopez, R., Bartolome, M. V., Souza Neto, F. V., Salaices, M., . . . Cachofeiro, V. (2014). The potential role of leptin in the vascular remodeling associated with obesity. *International Journal of Obesity* (2005), 38(12), 1565-1572. doi:10.1038/ijo.2014.37 [doi]
- Masuo, K., Mikami, H., Ogihara, T., & Tuck, M. L. (2001). Weight reduction and pharmacologic treatment in obese hypertensives. *American Journal of Hypertension*, *14*(6 Pt 1), 530-538. doi:S0895-7061(00)01279-6 [pii]
- Matsubara, H. (1998). Pathophysiological role of angiotensin II type 2 receptor in cardiovascular and renal diseases. *Circulation Research*, *83*(12), 1182-1191.
- McCubrey, J. A., Steelman, L. S., Chappell, W. H., Abrams, S. L., Wong, E. W., Chang, F., ... Franklin, R. A. (2007). Roles of the raf/MEK/ERK pathway in cell growth, malignant transformation and drug resistance. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, *1773*(8), 1263-1284. doi:S0167-4889(06)00315-6 [pii]
- Mehta, P. K., & Griendling, K. K. (2007). Angiotensin II cell signaling: Physiological and pathological effects in the cardiovascular system. *American Journal of Physiology.Cell Physiology*, 292(1), C82-97. doi:00287.2006 [pii]
- Meng, R., Pei, Z., Zhang, A., Zhou, Y., Cai, X., Chen, B., ... Dong, Y. (2011). AMPK activation enhances PPARalpha activity to inhibit cardiac hypertrophy via ERK1/2 MAPK signaling pathway. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, *511*(1-2), 1-7. doi:10.1016/j.abb.2011.04.010 [doi]
- Min, L. J., Mogi, M., Li, J. M., Iwanami, J., Iwai, M., & Horiuchi, M. (2005). Aldosterone and angiotensin II synergistically induce mitogenic response in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Circulation Research*, 97(5), 434-442. doi:01.RES.0000180753.63183.95 [pii]
- Mitchell, G. F., Lacourciere, Y., Ouellet, J. P., Izzo, J. L., Jr, Neutel, J., Kerwin, L. J., . . . Pfeffer, M. A. (2003). Determinants of elevated pulse pressure in middle-aged and older subjects with uncomplicated systolic hypertension: The role of proximal aortic diameter and the aortic pressure-flow relationship.

Circulation, 108(13), 1592-1598. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000093435.04334.1F [doi]

- Molkentin, J. D. (2000). The zinc finger-containing transcription factors GATA-4, -5, and -6. ubiquitously expressed regulators of tissue-specific gene expression. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(50), 38949-38952. doi:10.1074/jbc.R000029200 [doi]
- Moreno, C., Lopez, A., Llinas, M. T., Rodriguez, F., Lopez-Farre, A., Nava, E., & Salazar, F. J. (2002). Changes in NOS activity and protein expression during acute and prolonged ANG II administration. *American Journal of Physiology.Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 282*(1), R31-7.
- Morgan, L., Broughton Pipkin, F., & Kalsheker, N. (1996). Angiotensinogen: Molecular biology, biochemistry and physiology. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 28(11), 1211-1222. doi:S1357-2725(96)00086-6 [pii]
- Mulvany, M. J. (1999). Vascular remodelling of resistance vessels: Can we define this? *Cardiovascular Research*, *41*(1), 9-13. doi:S0008-6363(98)00289-2 [pii]
- Mulvany, M. J. (2002). Small artery remodeling and significance in the development of hypertension. *News in Physiological Sciences : An International Journal of Physiology Produced Jointly by the International Union of Physiological Sciences and the American Physiological Society, 17*, 105-109.
- Mulvany, M. J., & Aalkjaer, C. (1990). Structure and function of small arteries. *Physiological Reviews*, *70*(4), 921-961.
- Naftilan, A. J., Pratt, R. E., & Dzau, V. J. (1989). Induction of platelet-derived growth factor A-chain and c-myc gene expressions by angiotensin II in cultured rat vascular smooth muscle cells. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 83*(4), 1419-1424. doi:10.1172/JCI114032 [doi]
- Nelson, T. J., Balza, R., Jr, Xiao, Q., & Misra, R. P. (2005). SRF-dependent gene expression in isolated cardiomyocytes: Regulation of genes involved in cardiac hypertrophy. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 39(3), 479-489. doi:S0022-2828(05)00158-6 [pii]
- Okuda, M., Kawahara, Y., Nakayama, I., Hoshijima, M., & Yokoyama, M. (1995). Angiotensin II transduces its signal to focal adhesions via angiotensin II type 1 receptors in vascular smooth muscle cells. *FEBS Letters, 368*(2), 343-347. doi:0014-5793(95)00693-4 [pii]
- Oparil, S., & Schmieder, R. E. (2015). New approaches in the treatment of hypertension. *Circulation Research*, *116*(6), 1074-1095. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303603 [doi]

- Oriji, G. K., & Keiser, H. R. (1997). Protein kinase C mediates angiotensin II-induced contractions and the release of endothelin and prostacyclin in rat aortic rings. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes, and Essential Fatty Acids, 57*(2), 135-141.
- Osherov, N., & Levitzki, A. (1994). Epidermal-Growth-Factor-Dependent activation of the Src-Family kinases. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, *225*(3), 1047-1053.
- Otsuka, F., Yamauchi, T., Ogura, T., Takahashi, M., Kageyama, J., & Makino, H. (1998). Renal c-fos expression induced by angiotensin II is enhanced in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Life Sciences, 63*(23), 2089-2095. doi:S0024320599800058 [pii]
- Ouchi, N., Kihara, S., Arita, Y., Okamoto, Y., Maeda, K., Kuriyama, H., ... Matsuzawa, Y. (2000). Adiponectin, an adipocyte-derived plasma protein, inhibits endothelial NF-kappaB signaling through a cAMP-dependent pathway. *Circulation*, *102*(11), 1296-1301.
- Oyekan, A., Balazy, M., & McGiff, J. C. (1997). Renal oxygenases: Differential contribution to vasoconstriction induced by ET-1 and ANG II. *The American Journal of Physiology*, *273*(1 Pt 2), R293-300.
- Pan, J., Fukuda, K., Kodama, H., Makino, S., Takahashi, T., Sano, M., . . . Ogawa, S. (1997). Role of angiotensin II in activation of the JAK/STAT pathway induced by acute pressure overload in the rat heart. *Circulation Research*, *81*(4), 611-617.
- Pasterkamp, G., de Kleijn, D. P., & Borst, C. (2000). Arterial remodeling in atherosclerosis, restenosis and after alteration of blood flow: Potential mechanisms and clinical implications. *Cardiovascular Research*, 45(4), 843-852. doi:S0008-6363(99)00377-6 [pii]
- Perrino, C., & Rockman, H. A. (2006). GATA4 and the two sides of gene expression reprogramming. *Circulation Research*, *98*(6), 715-716. doi:98/6/715 [pii]
- Petrie, M. C., Padmanabhan, N., McDonald, J. E., Hillier, C., Connell, J. M., & McMurray, J. J. (2001). Angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) and non-ACE dependent angiotensin II generation in resistance arteries from patients with heart failure and coronary heart disease. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *37*(4), 1056-1061. doi:S0735-1097(01)01111-1 [pii]
- Piepho, R. W., & Beal, J. (2000). An overview of antihypertensive therapy in the 20th century. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, *40*(9), 967-977.
- Pollack, P. S. (1995). Proto-oncogenes and the cardiovascular system. *Chest, 107*(3), 826-835.

- Price, R. J., Less, J. R., Van Gieson, E. J., & Skalak, T. C. (2002). Hemodynamic stresses and structural remodeling of anastomosing arteriolar networks: Design principles of collateral arterioles. *Microcirculation (New York, N.Y.:* 1994), 9(2), 111-124. doi:10.1038/sj/mn/7800127 [doi]
- Rahmouni, K., Haynes, W. G., Morgan, D. A., & Mark, A. L. (2002). Selective resistance to central neural administration of leptin in agouti obese mice. *Hypertension*, *39*(2 Pt 2), 486-490.
- Rahmouni, K., Morgan, D. A., Morgan, G. M., Mark, A. L., & Haynes, W. G. (2005). Role of selective leptin resistance in diet-induced obesity hypertension. *Diabetes*, *54*(7), 2012-2018. doi:54/7/2012 [pii]
- Rajagopalan, S., Kurz, S., Munzel, T., Tarpey, M., Freeman, B. A., Griendling, K. K., & Harrison, D. G. (1996). Angiotensin II-mediated hypertension in the rat increases vascular superoxide production via membrane NADH/NADPH oxidase activation. contribution to alterations of vasomotor tone. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *97*(8), 1916-1923. doi:10.1172/JCI118623 [doi]
- Rajapurohitam, V., Javadov, S., Purdham, D. M., Kirshenbaum, L. A., & Karmazyn, M. (2006). An autocrine role for leptin in mediating the cardiomyocyte hypertrophic effects of angiotensin II and endothelin-1. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, *41*(2), 265-274.
- Rajapurohitam, V., Gan, X. T., Kirshenbaum, L. A., & Karmazyn, M. (2003). The obesity-associated peptide leptin induces hypertrophy in neonatal rat ventricular myocytes. *Circulation Research*, 93(4), 277-279. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000089255.37804.72 [doi]
- Redon, J., Cifkova, R., Laurent, S., Nilsson, P., Narkiewicz, K., Erdine, S., & Mancia, G. (2009). Mechanisms of hypertension in the cardiometabolic syndrome. *Journal* of Hypertension, 27(3), 441-451. doi:10.1097/HJH.0b013e32831e13e5 [doi]
- Renna, N. F., de Las Heras, N., & Miatello, R. M. (2013). Pathophysiology of vascular remodeling in hypertension. *International Journal of Hypertension, 2013*, 808353. doi:10.1155/2013/808353 [doi]
- Rizzoni, D., Porteri, E., Castellano, M., Bettoni, G., Muiesan, M. L., Muiesan, P., . . . Agabiti-Rosei, E. (1996). Vascular hypertrophy and remodeling in secondary hypertension. *Hypertension*, *28*(5), 785-790.
- Rizzoni, D., Porteri, E., Guelfi, D., Muiesan, M. L., Valentini, U., Cimino, A., . . . Rosei, E.
 A. (2001). Structural alterations in subcutaneous small arteries of normotensive and hypertensive patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Circulation*, 103(9), 1238-1244.

- Rizzoni, D., Porteri, E., Piccoli, A., Castellano, M., Bettoni, G., Muiesan, M. L., ... Agabiti Rosei, E. (1998). Effects of losartan and enalapril on small artery structure in hypertensive rats. *Hypertension*, *32*(2), 305-310.
- Robinson, M. J., & Cobb, M. H. (1997). Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 9(2), 180-186. doi:S0955-0674(97)80061-0 [pii]
- Roufogalis, B. D., Chen, S., Kable, E. P., Kuo, T. H., & Monteith, G. R. (1997). The plasma membrane ca(2+)-ATPase in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 834, 673-675.
- Rzucidlo, E. M., Martin, K. A., & Powell, R. J. (2007). Regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation. *Journal of Vascular Surgery, 45 Suppl A*, A25-32. doi:S0741-5214(07)00412-0 [pii]
- Sabe, H., Hamaguchi, M., & Hanafusa, H. (1997). Cell to substratum adhesion is involved in v-src-induced cellular protein tyrosine phosphorylation:
 Implication for the adhesion-regulated protein tyrosine phosphatase activity. *Oncogene*, *14*(15), 1779-1788. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1201022 [doi]
- Safar, M. E., Girerd, X., & Laurent, S. (1996). Structural changes of large conduit arteries in hypertension. *Journal of Hypertension*, *14*(5), 545-555.
- Safar, M. E., Levy, B. I., & Struijker-Boudier, H. (2003). Current perspectives on arterial stiffness and pulse pressure in hypertension and cardiovascular diseases. *Circulation*, *107*(22), 2864-2869. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000069826.36125.B4 [doi]
- Saris, J. J., van Dijk, M. A., Kroon, I., Schalekamp, M. A., & Danser, A. H. (2000). Functional importance of angiotensin-converting enzyme-dependent in situ angiotensin II generation in the human forearm. *Hypertension*, 35(3), 764-768.
- Sarkis, A., Lopez, B., & Roman, R. J. (2004). Role of 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid and epoxyeicosatrienoic acids in hypertension. *Current Opinion in Nephrology and Hypertension*, *13*(2), 205-214.
- Sayeski, P. P., Ali, M. S., Harp, J. B., Marrero, M. B., & Bernstein, K. E. (1998). Phosphorylation of p130Cas by angiotensin II is dependent on c-src, intracellular Ca2+, and protein kinase C. *Circulation Research*, *82*(12), 1279-1288.
- Schiffrin, E. L. (2004). Remodeling of resistance arteries in essential hypertension and effects of antihypertensive treatment. *American Journal of Hypertension*, *17*(12 Pt 1), 1192-1200. doi:S0895-7061(04)00859-3 [pii]

- Schiffrin, E. L., Lariviere, R., Li, J. S., & Sventek, P. (1996). Enhanced expression of the endothelin-1 gene in blood vessels of DOCA-salt hypertensive rats: Correlation with vascular structure. *Journal of Vascular Research*, 33(3), 235-248.
- Schiffrin, E. L., Thome, F. S., & Genest, J. (1984). Vascular angiotensin II receptors in SHR. *Hypertension*, 6(5), 682-688.
- Schutz, S., Le Moullec, J. M., Corvol, P., & Gasc, J. M. (1996). Early expression of all the components of the renin-angiotensin-system in human development. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 149(6), 2067-2079.
- Seko, T., Ito, M., Kureishi, Y., Okamoto, R., Moriki, N., Onishi, K., ... Nakano, T. (2003). Activation of RhoA and inhibition of myosin phosphatase as important components in hypertension in vascular smooth muscle. *Circulation Research*, 92(4), 411-418. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000059987.90200.44 [doi]
- Shiojima, I., & Walsh, K. (2002). Role of akt signaling in vascular homeostasis and angiogenesis. *Circulation Research*, *90*(12), 1243-1250.
- Sim, M. K., & Qui, X. S. (2003). Angiotensins in plasma of hypertensive rats and human. *Regulatory Peptides*, *111*(1-3), 179-182. doi:S0167011502002896 [pii]
- Singh, R. B., Suh, I. L., Singh, V. P., Chaithiraphan, S., Laothavorn, P., Sy, R. G., ... Sarraf-Zadigan, N. (2000). Hypertension and stroke in asia: Prevalence, control and strategies in developing countries for prevention. *Journal of Human Hypertension*, 14(10-11), 749-763.
- Siragy, H. M. (2000). The role of the AT2 receptor in hypertension. *American Journal of Hypertension, 13*(5 Pt 2), 62S-67S. doi:S0895706100004520 [pii]
- SKEGGS, L. T., Jr, KAHN, J. R., LENTZ, K., & SHUMWAY, N. P. (1957). The preparation, purification, and amino acid sequence of a polypeptide renin substrate. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *106*(3), 439-453.
- Skorska, A., von Haehling, S., Ludwig, M., Lux, C. A., Gaebel, R., Kleiner, G., ... David, R. (2015). The CD4 AT2R T cell subpopulation improves post-infarction remodelling and restores cardiac function. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, doi:10.1111/jcmm.12574 [doi]
- Skurk, T., van Harmelen, V., Blum, W. F., & Hauner, H. (2005). Angiotensin II promotes leptin production in cultured human fat cells by an ERK1/2-dependent pathway. *Obesity Research*, *13*(6), 969-973. doi:13/6/969 [pii]
- Song, K., Kurobe, Y., Kanehara, H., Wada, T., Inada, Y., Nishikawa, K., & Miyazaki, M. (1995). Mapping of angiotensin II receptor subtypes in peripheral tissues of

spontaneously hypertensive rats by in vitro autoradiography. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology & Physiology.Supplement, 22*(1), S17-9.

- Sonmez, A., Kisa, U., Uckaya, G., Eyileten, T., Comert, B., Koc, B., . . . Ozata, M. (2001). Effects of losartan treatment on T-cell activities and plasma leptin concentrations in primary hypertension. *Journal of the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System : JRAAS*, 2(2), 112-116. doi:536 [pii]
- Stefanska, J., & Pawliczak, R. (2008). Apocynin: Molecular aptitudes. *Mediators of Inflammation, 2008*, 106507. doi:10.1155/2008/106507 [doi]
- Sugden, P. H., & Clerk, A. (1997). Regulation of the ERK subgroup of MAP kinase cascades through G protein-coupled receptors. *Cellular Signalling*, *9*(5), 337-351. doi:S0898-6568(96)00191-X [pii]
- Sutter, M. C. (1990). The mesenteric-portal vein in research. *Pharmacological Reviews*, *42*(4), 287-325.
- Taniyama, Y., & Griendling, K. K. (2003). Reactive oxygen species in the vasculature: Molecular and cellular mechanisms. *Hypertension*, 42(6), 1075-1081. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000100443.09293.4F [doi]
- Taniyama, Y., Ushio-Fukai, M., Hitomi, H., Rocic, P., Kingsley, M. J., Pfahnl, C., . . . Griendling, K. K. (2004). Role of p38 MAPK and MAPKAPK-2 in angiotensin IIinduced akt activation in vascular smooth muscle cells. *American Journal of Physiology.Cell Physiology*, 287(2), C494-9. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00439.2003 [doi]
- Thomas, S. M., & Brugge, J. S. (1997). Cellular functions regulated by src family kinases. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 13*, 513-609. doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.13.1.513 [doi]
- Thyberg, J. (1998). Phenotypic modulation of smooth muscle cells during formation of neointimal thickenings following vascular injury. *Histology and Histopathology*, *13*(3), 871-891.
- Tipnis, S. R., Hooper, N. M., Hyde, R., Karran, E., Christie, G., & Turner, A. J. (2000). A human homolog of angiotensin-converting enzyme. cloning and functional expression as a captopril-insensitive carboxypeptidase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *275*(43), 33238-33243. doi:10.1074/jbc.M002615200 [doi]
- Tobiume, K., Matsuzawa, A., Takahashi, T., Nishitoh, H., Morita, K., Takeda, K., . . . Ichijo, H. (2001). ASK1 is required for sustained activations of JNK/p38 MAP kinases and apoptosis. *EMBO Reports, 2*(3), 222-228. doi:10.1093/emboreports/kve046 [doi]

- Touyz, R. M., El Mabrouk, M., He, G., Wu, X. H., & Schiffrin, E. L. (1999). Mitogenactivated protein/extracellular signal-regulated kinase inhibition attenuates angiotensin II-mediated signaling and contraction in spontaneously hypertensive rat vascular smooth muscle cells. *Circulation Research*, 84(5), 505-515.
- Touyz, R. M., Fareh, J., Thibault, G., & Schiffrin, E. L. (1996). Intracellular Ca2+ modulation by angiotensin II and endothelin-1 in cardiomyocytes and fibroblasts from hypertrophied hearts of spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Hypertension*, 28(5), 797-805.
- Touyz, R. M., He, G., Deng, L. Y., & Schiffrin, E. L. (1999a). Role of extracellular signal-regulated kinases in angiotensin II-stimulated contraction of smooth muscle cells from human resistance arteries. *Circulation*, *99*(3), 392-399.
- Touyz, R. M., He, G., Deng, L. Y., & Schiffrin, E. L. (1999b). Role of extracellular signal-regulated kinases in angiotensin II-stimulated contraction of smooth muscle cells from human resistance arteries. *Circulation*, *99*(3), 392-399.
- Touyz, R. M., & Schiffrin, E. L. (1999). Ang II-stimulated superoxide production is mediated via phospholipase D in human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Hypertension*, *34*(4 Pt 2), 976-982.
- Touyz, R. M., & Schiffrin, E. L. (2000). Signal transduction mechanisms mediating the physiological and pathophysiological actions of angiotensin II in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Pharmacological Reviews*, *52*(4), 639-672.
- Triantafyllidi, E., Baldwin, C., Schwartz, F., & Gavras, H. (2004). Study of hypertension in spontaneous hypertensive rats by sequencing the genomic DNA of alpha2B receptors. *Hellenic J Cardiol, 45*, 65-70.
- Uehata, M., Ishizaki, T., Satoh, H., Ono, T., Kawahara, T., Morishita, T., ... Maekawa, M. (1997). Calcium sensitization of smooth muscle mediated by a rhoassociated protein kinase in hypertension. *Nature, 389*(6654), 990-994.
- Urata, H., Kinoshita, A., Misono, K. S., Bumpus, F. M., & Husain, A. (1990). Identification of a highly specific chymase as the major angiotensin II-forming enzyme in the human heart. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *265*(36), 22348-22357.
- Urena, J., del Valle-Rodriguez, A., & Lopez-Barneo, J. (2007a). Metabotropic Ca2+ channel-induced calcium release in vascular smooth muscle. *Cell Calcium*, 42(4-5), 513-520. doi:S0143-4160(07)00089-9 [pii]
- Urena, J., del Valle-Rodriguez, A., & Lopez-Barneo, J. (2007b). Metabotropic Ca2+ channel-induced calcium release in vascular smooth muscle. *Cell Calcium*, 42(4-5), 513-520. doi:S0143-4160(07)00089-9 [pii]

- Ushio-Fukai, M., Alexander, R. W., Akers, M., & Griendling, K. K. (1998). p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase is a critical component of the redox-sensitive signaling pathways activated by angiotensin II. role in vascular smooth muscle cell hypertrophy. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *273*(24), 15022-15029.
- Ushio-Fukai, M., Alexander, R. W., Akers, M., Lyons, P. R., Lassegue, B., & Griendling, K. K. (1999). Angiotensin II receptor coupling to phospholipase D is mediated by the betagamma subunits of heterotrimeric G proteins in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *55*(1), 142-149.
- van Geel, P. P., Pinto, Y. M., Voors, A. A., Buikema, H., Oosterga, M., Crijns, H. J., & van Gilst, W. H. (2000). Angiotensin II type 1 receptor A1166C gene polymorphism is associated with an increased response to angiotensin II in human arteries. *Hypertension*, *35*(3), 717-721.
- van Varik, B. J., Rennenberg, R. J., Reutelingsperger, C. P., Kroon, A. A., de Leeuw, P. W., & Schurgers, L. J. (2012). Mechanisms of arterial remodeling: Lessons from genetic diseases. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *3*, 290. doi:10.3389/fgene.2012.00290 [doi]
- Venema, R. C., Ju, H., Venema, V. J., Schieffer, B., Harp, J. B., Ling, B. N., . . . Marrero, M. B. (1998). Angiotensin II-induced association of phospholipase Cgamma1 with the G-protein-coupled AT1 receptor. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(13), 7703-7708.
- Vickers, C., Hales, P., Kaushik, V., Dick, L., Gavin, J., Tang, J., . . . Tummino, P. (2002). Hydrolysis of biological peptides by human angiotensin-converting enzymerelated carboxypeptidase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(17), 14838-14843. doi:10.1074/jbc.M200581200 [doi]
- Villarreal, D., Reams, G., Freeman, R. H., & Taraben, A. (1998). Renal effects of leptin in normotensive, hypertensive, and obese rats. *The American Journal of Physiology, 275*(6 Pt 2), R2056-60.
- Walsh, M. P., Horowitz, A., Clement-Chomienne, O., Andrea, J. E., Allen, B. G., & Morgan, K. G. (1996). Protein kinase C mediation of ca(2+)-independent contractions of vascular smooth muscle. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology = Biochimie Et Biologie Cellulaire, 74*(4), 485-502.
- Wanjare, M., Kuo, F., & Gerecht, S. (2013). Derivation and maturation of synthetic and contractile vascular smooth muscle cells from human pluripotent stem cells. *Cardiovascular Research*, *97*(2), 321-330. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvs315 [doi]
- Ward, M. R., Pasterkamp, G., Yeung, A. C., & Borst, C. (2000). Arterial remodeling. mechanisms and clinical implications. *Circulation*, *102*(10), 1186-1191.

- Watanabe, T., Barker, T. A., & Berk, B. C. (2005). Angiotensin II and the endothelium: Diverse signals and effects. *Hypertension*, *45*(2), 163-169. doi:01.HYP.0000153321.13792.b9 [pii]
- Wilkie, N., Ng, L. L., & Boarder, M. R. (1997). Angiotensin II responses of vascular smooth muscle cells from hypertensive rats: Enhancement at the level of p42 and p44 mitogen activated protein kinase. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 122(2), 209-216. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0701366 [doi]
- Wood, A. J., Goodfriend, T. L., Elliott, M. E., & Catt, K. J. (1996). Angiotensin receptors and their antagonists. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *334*(25), 1649-1655.
- Woodsome, T. P., Polzin, A., Kitazawa, K., Eto, M., & Kitazawa, T. (2006). Agonistand depolarization-induced signals for myosin light chain phosphorylation and force generation of cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. *Journal of Cell Science*, 119(Pt 9), 1769-1780. doi:jcs.02805 [pii]
- World Health Organization. (2011). Causes of death 2008: Data sources and methods. *Geneva: World Health Organization,*
- Wynne, B. M., Chiao, C. W., & Webb, R. C. (2009). Vascular smooth muscle cell signaling mechanisms for contraction to angiotensin II and endothelin-1. *Journal of the American Society of Hypertension : JASH, 3*(2), 84-95. doi:10.1016/j.jash.2008.09.002 [doi]
- Xi, X. P., Graf, K., Goetze, S., Fleck, E., Hsueh, W. A., & Law, R. E. (1999). Central role of the MAPK pathway in ang II-mediated DNA synthesis and migration in rat vascular smooth muscle cells. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 19(1), 73-82.
- Yamagishi, S. I., Edelstein, D., Du, X. L., Kaneda, Y., Guzman, M., & Brownlee, M. (2001). Leptin induces mitochondrial superoxide production and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression in aortic endothelial cells by increasing fatty acid oxidation via protein kinase A. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(27), 25096-25100. doi:10.1074/jbc.M007383200 [doi]
- Yamakawa, T., Tanaka, S., Numaguchi, K., Yamakawa, Y., Motley, E. D., Ichihara, S., & Inagami, T. (2000a). Involvement of rho-kinase in angiotensin II-induced hypertrophy of rat vascular smooth muscle cells. *Hypertension*, *35*(1 Pt 2), 313-318.
- Yamakawa, T., Tanaka, S., Numaguchi, K., Yamakawa, Y., Motley, E. D., Ichihara, S., & Inagami, T. (2000b). Involvement of rho-kinase in angiotensin II-induced hypertrophy of rat vascular smooth muscle cells. *Hypertension*, *35*(1 Pt 2), 313-318.

- Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Ito, Y., Tsuchida, A., Yokomizo, T., Kita, S., . . . Kadowaki, T. (2003). Cloning of adiponectin receptors that mediate antidiabetic metabolic effects. *Nature*, *423*(6941), 762-769. doi:10.1038/nature01705 [doi]
- Yano, M., Kim, S., Izumi, Y., Yamanaka, S., & Iwao, H. (1998). Differential activation of cardiac c-jun amino-terminal kinase and extracellular signal-regulated kinase in angiotensin II-mediated hypertension. *Circulation Research*, 83(7), 752-760.
- Yusuf, S., Reddy, S., Ounpuu, S., & Anand, S. (2001). Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: Part I: General considerations, the epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization. *Circulation*, *104*(22), 2746-2753.
- Zahradka, P., Wilson, D., Saward, L., Yau, L., & Cheung, P. (1998). Cellular physiology of angiotensin II receptors in vascular smooth muscle cells.
 Angiotensin II receptor blockade physiological and clinical implications (pp. 41-50) Springer.
- Zeidan, A., Gan, X. T., Thomas, A., & Karmazyn, M. (2014). Prevention of RhoA activation and cofilin-mediated actin polymerization mediates the antihypertrophic effect of adenosine receptor agonists in angiotensin II- and endothelin-1-treated cardiomyocytes. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, *385*(1-2), 239-248. doi:10.1007/s11010-013-1832-2 [doi]
- Zeidan, A., Javadov, S., & Karmazyn, M. (2006). Essential role of rho/ROCKdependent processes and actin dynamics in mediating leptin-induced hypertrophy in rat neonatal ventricular myocytes. *Cardiovascular Research*, 72(1), 101-111. doi:S0008-6363(06)00293-8 [pii]
- Zeidan, A., Paylor, B., Steinhoff, K. J., Javadov, S., Rajapurohitam, V., Chakrabarti, S., & Karmazyn, M. (2007a). Actin cytoskeleton dynamics promotes leptininduced vascular smooth muscle hypertrophy via RhoA/ROCK- and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B-dependent pathways. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 322(3), 1110-1116. doi:jpet.107.122440 [pii]
- Zeidan, A., Paylor, B., Steinhoff, K. J., Javadov, S., Rajapurohitam, V., Chakrabarti, S., & Karmazyn, M. (2007b). Actin cytoskeleton dynamics promotes leptininduced vascular smooth muscle hypertrophy via RhoA/ROCK- and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B-dependent pathways. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 322(3), 1110-1116. doi:jpet.107.122440 [pii]
- Zeidan, A., Purdham, D. M., Rajapurohitam, V., Javadov, S., Chakrabarti, S., & Karmazyn, M. (2005). Leptin induces vascular smooth muscle cell hypertrophy through angiotensin II- and endothelin-1-dependent mechanisms and

mediates stretch-induced hypertrophy. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 315(3), 1075-1084. doi:jpet.105.091561 [pii]